
Vestavia Hills  
City Council Agenda 
September 12, 2016 

5:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call 
3. Invocation –Ben Acton, Associate Pastor, Southminster Presbyterian Church 
4. Pledge Of Allegiance 
5. Candidates, Announcements and Guest Recognition 
6. City Manager’s Report 
7. Councilors’ Reports 
8. Approval of Minutes –August 22, 2016 (Regular Meeting); August 29, 2016 (Work 

Session) and August 30, 2016 (Special Meeting) 

Old Business  

9. Resolution Number 4866 – A Resolution Approving And Adopting The General Fund 
Budget, A Special Revenue Fund Budget, A Capital Projects Fund Budget And A 
Sidewalk Project Fund Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills For The Period Beginning 
October 1, 2016 Until September 30, 2017  (public hearing) 

10. Resolution Number 4869 – A Resolution Approving A 2% COLA For Employees 
11. Resolution Number 4870 – A Resolution Approving Financing Terms For City Vehicles 

Through Branch Banking And Trust Company 
12. Resolution Number 4871 – A Resolution Approving A Change Order And Overhead 

Charges From Forestry Environmental For Additional Work At Meadowlawn Park 
Approving Monies For Meadowlawn Park 

13. Ordinance Number 2677 – An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance Numbers 97, 751 And 
1425 And Amending Section Numbers 15-2 Through 15-8 Of The Vestavia Hills Code 
Of Ordinances To Regulate And Control All Utility Construction, Both Public And 
Private, Under Existing Asphalt And Concrete Surfaces Within Public Rights-Of-Way 
Where The City Has Jurisdiction In An Effort To Protect The Integrity, Safety, And 
Operational Performance Of The Roadways Within The City Of Vestavia Hills 

 



New Business  

14. Certificate of Election – Ashley Curry 
15. Certificate of Election – Dennis “Rusty” Weaver 
16. Certificate of Election – Kimberly Cook 
17. Certificate of Election – Paul J. Head 
18. Certificate of Election – George Pierce  
19. Resolution Number 4873  – A Resolution Approving An Alcohol License For Roshan 1 

LLC D/B/A AM PM Chevron For The Off-Premise Sale Of Retail Beer And Table 
Wine, Executives  (public hearing) 

20. Resolution Number 4874 - A Resolution Declaring Certain Personal Property As Surplus 
And Directing The Donation Of Said Property 

21. Resolution Number 4875 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Mowing Of Rights-Of-
Way In The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

22. Resolution Number 4876 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Landscape Maintenance 
At Vestavia Hills City Hall, The Vestavia Hills Library In The Forest And The City’s 
Passive Parks 

23. Resolution Number 4877 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Pest Control Services For 
The City Of Vestavia Hills 

24. Resolution Number 4878 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Street Resurfacing And 
Repair For The City Of Vestavia Hills 

25. Ordinance Number 2680 – An Ordinance Approving The Agreement For The Renewal 
And Extension Of The Contract For Garbage And Trash Collection And Disposal 
Services For A Period Of One (1) Year At A Monthly Recurring Fee Of Nineteen And 
62/100 Dollars ($19.62) Per Residential Unit And Authorizing The Mayor And City 
Manager To Execute And Deliver Said Agreement For And On Behalf Of The City Of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

26. Ordinance Number 2681 – An Ordinance Confirming And Ratifying The Levy Of The 
3.15 Mill Ad Valorem Tax In The City For Public School Purposes Pursuant To 
Amendment No. 352 To The Constitution Of Alabama Of 1901 And A Special Election 
Held In The City On January 13, 1976 

New Business (Unanimous Consent Requested) 

27. Resolution Number 4879 – A Resolution To Authorize The City Manager To Expend Up 
To $20,001 For Purchase Of Library “Making Space/Crafting” Equipment For The 
Vestavia Hills Library In The Forest 



 

First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

28. Ordinance Number 2678 – An Ordinance Granting A Conditional Use Approval For The 
Intended Purpose Of Raising And Housing Urban Hens At 724 Paden Drive.  The 
Property Is Vestavia Hills R-2 And Is Owned By Malcolm McLeod. 

29. Ordinance Number 2679 – Rezoning – 3017 And 3029 Cahaba Heights Road; Rezone 
From Vestavia Hills B-3 (Business District) And Vestavia Hills O-1 (Office District) To 
Vestavia Hills B-1.2; Cahaba Heights Corner LLC And Bob Armstrong, Owners 

30. Citizens Comments 
31. Executive Session 
32. Motion For Adjournment 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

AUGUST 22, 2016 
 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 5:00 PM.  
The Mayor called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the 
following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem 

George Pierce  
      John Henley  
      Jim Sharp 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  

Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
      Kevin York, Police Captain 
      Jim St. John, Fire Chief 
      Marvin Green, Deputy Fire Chief 
      Terry Ray, Deputy Fire Chief 
      Keith Blanton, Building Official 
      Scott Key, Fire Marshal 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. City Treasurer 
 
 
 Invocation was given by Rev. Andy Farmer, Minister of Students at Vestavia 
Hills Baptist Church, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION, CANDIDATES 
 

• Mr. Pierce welcomed Scott Perry representing the Vestavia Hills Chamber of 
Commerce. 

 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 2 
 

CANDIDATES 
 

George Pierce introduced himself and announced that he is running for City 
Council, Place Number 4 in the upcoming municipal election. 
 
 Steve Ammons introduced himself and announced that he is running for City 
Council, Place Number 3 in the upcoming municipal election. 
 
 Butch Zaragoza introduced himself and announced that he is running for Mayor in 
the upcoming municipal election. 
 
 John Henley introduced himself and announced that he is running for City 
Council, Place Number 1 in the upcoming municipal election. 
 
 Kim Benos, introduced herself and announced that she is running for City 
Council, Place Number 2 in the upcoming municipal election. 
 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating August 2016 as “Gynecological 
Cancer Awareness Month.”  Mr. Downes read the proclamation and presented it to Ginny 
Bourland and Alice Laurendine, both of whom captivated the audience with explaining 
their respective diagnosis and fight with ovarian cancer and encouraged all women to see 
medical assistance if they display any symptoms of said cancer. 
 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Mr. Sawaya presented the financial reports for month ending July 2016.  He read 
and explained the reports.  
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

• Mr. Downes asked Mr. Davis to give an update on the ongoing efforts to upgrade 
the City’s recreational programs. 

o Mr. Davis stated that the weather has slightly hindered some of the work 
but some of the drainage has been addressed and will be moving onto the 
other fields.  Cage signage has been ordered and the goalposts should be 
received and assembled this week. Landscaping should be addressed soon 
and mulch installation has been completed.  The City is waiting on 
additional parts for the shade structures. 

• Mr. Downes addressed the Council on lighting along Montgomery Highway.  He 
stated that there have been ongoing studies of the “whiteway lights” along the 
highway and showed a detailed spreadsheet of the current costs of lighting the 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 3 
 

highway.  He stated that the overhead lighting utility costs are $90,000 annually 
with the current fixtures.   There were some budgeted repairs of $30,000 which 
left a current budget of $120,000.  There are two solutions to change these 
fixtures over to new LED lighting.  One would be to allow Alabama Power to do 
the work and retire the cost over a period of time or allowing a private company 
to do the work.  A sampling of expenses for a private vendor to do the work was 
detailed which would cause the utility costs to fall to $3,185.  However, rewiring 
of the poles would be required along with the fixtures estimated at a total of 
$173,185 for the first year (including utility costs for the year).  Upon this 
investigation, it was discovered that Alabama Power was overpaid $46,485 that 
was recently refunded.  Mr. Downes recommended a competitive process be 
followed in order to get the best price for the change and bring a good 
recommendation to the Council.   Discussion ensued concerning liability, timeline 
for replacement, solar powered lighting, etc. However, Mr. Downes 
recommended more study. 

 
 

COUNCILORS’ REPORTS 
 

• The Mayor reminded everyone of the municipal election to be held tomorrow. 
Polling hours will be 7 AM to 7 PM. 

• Mr. Henley stated that the Federal Judge has signed off approvals to allow the 
Board of Education to purchase the formal Berry School. 

• The Mayor announced a special meeting of the City Council to canvass the votes 
on August 30, 2016 at noon. 

• If the election leaves a runoff in the one race, that election date would be October 
4, 2016. 

• The Mayor stated that a forum was hosted by the Cahaba Heights Community 
Foundation. 

• The Mayor announced that Res. numbers 4866, 4869 and 4870 have been 
continued until September 12, 2016.  There will be a work session to discuss the 
budget on August 29, 2016 beginning at 6 PM in the Executive Conference 
Room.  The reason is the elections are tomorrow and there might be new 
Councilors and they needed to have an opportunity to have input into the 
proposed budget.  Mr. Downes has submitted his budget and met his obligation. 

 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The minutes of August 8, 2016 (Regular Meeting) were presented for approval.   
 
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of August 8, 2016 

(Regular Meeting) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Pierce and 
second by Mr. Henley.  Roll call vote as follows: 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 4 
 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4866 
 
Resolution Number 4866 – A Resolution Approving And Adopting The General 

Fund Budget, A Special Revenue Fund Budget, A Capital Projects Fund 
Budget And A Sidewalk Project Fund Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills 
For The Period Beginning October 1, 2016 Until September 30, 2017  (public 
hearing) 

 
 The Mayor explained that this request has been postponed until the September 12, 
2016 meeting.   
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2665 
  
Ordinance Number 2665 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-71 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting The 
2015 International Building Code For The City Of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2665 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Sharp.    
 
 Mr. Downes explained that this ordinance and the following ordinances are all 
updates to the City’s various construction building and fire codes. 
 
 Keith Blanton, Building Official and Scott Key, Fire Marshal were present to 
answer any questions regarding these codes. 
 
 Mr. Henley asked why these are being updated annually.   
 
 Mr. Blanton stated that they aren’t updated every year, but they update as needed 
about every couple of years.  They have been reviewing these codes for over a year and 
are ready to go. 
 
 Discussion ensued concerning sidewalk construction requirements, proposed 
amendments to the code, etc. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 5 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2666 
  
Ordinance Number 2666 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-81 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting The 
2015 International Energy Conservation Code For The City Of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2666 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Ammons.  
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2667 
  
Ordinance Number 2667 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-91 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting The 
2015 International Existing Building Code For The City Of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2667 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Pierce.    
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 6 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2668 
  
Ordinance Number 2668 - An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-101 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2015 International Residential Code For The City Of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2668 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Sharp.    
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2669 
  
Ordinance Number 2669 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-111 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2015 International Plumbing Code For The City Of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2669 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Ammons.    
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2670 
  
Ordinance Number 2670 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-121 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2015 International Mechanical Code For The City Of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2670 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Pierce.  
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 7 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2671 
  
Ordinance Number 2671 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-131 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2015 International Fuel Gas Code For The City Of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2671 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Ammons.  
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2672 
  
Ordinance Number 2672 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-141 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2014 National Electrical Code For The City Of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2672 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Ammons.  
 
 Mr. Henley clarified that this is the 2014 code. Mr. Blanton stated that that is 
correct. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 8 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2673 
  
Ordinance Number 2673 – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2329 And 

Section 5-151 Of The Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances Adopting 
The 2015 International Swimming Pool And Spa Code For The City 
Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2673 was by Mr. Ammons and 

second was by Mr. Pierce.    
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one present to 
address the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4868 
  
Resolution Number 4868 – A Resolution Approving An Alcohol License For 

Everyday Food Mart And Cafe LLC D/B/A Everyday Food Mart And 
Café; Enaam Smadi, Executive  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4868 was by Mr. Sharp and second 

was by Mr. Henley.    
 
 The Mayor explained that the owner of this existing business is adding a café and 
requesting on-premise sale of beer and wine. 
 
 Mr. Smadi explained his expanding business. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked about training for employees. 
 
 Mr. Smadi stated that they engage in the ABC training program.  Some 
improvements and expansions have been done to the building and they are desiring to 
serve wings and pizza. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council on this issue, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 9 
 

   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4869 
 
Resolution Number 4869 – A Resolution Approving A 2% COLA For Employees 
 
 The Mayor explained that this request has been postponed until the September 12, 
2016 meeting.   
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4870 
 
Resolution Number 4870 – A Resolution Approving Financing Terms For City 

Vehicles Through Branch Banking And Trust Company 
 
 The Mayor explained that this request has been postponed until the September 12, 
2016 meeting.   
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following Resolutions and/or Ordinances will be 
presented at a public hearing at the Council’s next regularly scheduled meeting on 
September 12, 2016 at 5 PM. 

• Resolution Number 4871 – A Resolution Approving A Change Order And 
Overhead Charges From Forestry Environmental For Additional Work At 
Meadowlawn Park Approving Monies For Meadowlawn Park 

• Ordinance Number 2677 – An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance Numbers 97, 751 
And 1425 And Amending Section Numbers 15-2 Through 15-8 Of The Vestavia 
Hills Code Of Ordinances To Regulate And Control All Utility Construction, 
Both Public And Private, Under Existing Asphalt And Concrete Surfaces Within 
Public Rights-Of-Way Where The City Has Jurisdiction In An Effort To Protect 
The Integrity, Safety, And Operational Performance Of The Roadways Within 
The City Of Vestavia Hills 

 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Carol Walker, 2203 Rosewood Drive, stated that she will not be here for the next 
meeting but wanted to express support for the proposed Ordinance Number 2677.  She 
stated this should have been incorporated into the sidewalk master plan and this will go a 
long way to fix the sidewalks in various areas of the City. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 22, 2016 

Page 10 
 

 Donald Harwell, 1537 Willoughby Road, commended the microphones of the 
City Hall and asked about the proposed whiteway lighting and whether that would 
include replacement of the poles that have been knocked down over the years and not 
replaced. 
 
 Mr. Davis stated that it would be 120 poles and they have replaced all of the 
footers of which they were aware. 
 
 Mr. Harwell stated that tomorrow is election day.  He expressed an appreciation 
for all of the candidates and the time that they have devoted to this endeavor. 
 
 
 At 6:02 PM, Mr. Henley made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Mr. Pierce. 
Meeting adjourned at 6:03 PM.   
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

AUGUST 29, 2016 
 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in special work session on this date at 
6:00 PM following posting/publication as required by Alabama law.  The Mayor called 
the meeting to order and the City Clerk checked the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 

Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem 
George Pierce  

      John Henley  
      Jim Sharp 
      Ashley Curry, Mayor-Elect 
      Kimberly Cook, Council-Elect 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Paul Head, Council-Elect 
      Rusty Weaver, Council-Elect 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 

Dan Rary, Police Chief 
Kevin York, Police Captain 
Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
Taneisha Tucker, Library Director 
Mark Salter, Fleet Services 
Darrin Estes, IT Director 
Jim St. John, Fire Chief 
Marvin Green, Asst. Fire Chief 
Terry Ray, Asst. Fire Chief 

 
 The Mayor reminded everyone of the special called meeting for tomorrow in 
order to canvas the votes from the August 23rd election.  He indicated that this work 
session would be to review the City Manager’s proposed budget, examine any 



City Council Minutes 
Page 2 

 

amendments and to allow the newly-elected members to also get acquainted with the 
budget and the process. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained the budget process and the highlights of the budget.  He 
explained a new aspect of the budget to include self-insurance claim funding. 
 
 Mr. Downes then explained that the bidding process for the new sanitation 
contract required a longer “transition time” so the City needed to extend the current 
contract for a year in order to re-bid the contract and allow more time for transitioning.  
He stated that this would require a 2.8% increase in the budget to be offset with some 
one-time facility improvements to be moved to the Capital Projects Fund instead of the 
General Fund. 
 
 Mr. Downes, the Mayor, Council and Elect reviewed the proposed budget and Mr. 
Downes answered questions concerning the budget numbers and the projected revenue 
numbers. 
 
 Mr. Downes also gave an update on the pedestrian bridge.  He explained that the 
request began under Dr. McCallum’s administration and has been languishing at ALDOT 
for a number of years for various approvals.   The City has recently received word from 
ALDOT that the project could continue; however, they put a time requirement of 
commitment and found that some of the monies were re-allocated toward other projects.  
He indicated that Mr. Brady has found some monies to replace theses, but that the City 
needs to give a definitive answer on the final project. 
 
 
 At 7:45 PM, all business concluded and the Mayor adjourned the work session. 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr 
      Mayor 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
 August 30, 2016 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

SPECIAL MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
 

AUGUST 30, 2016 
 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 12:00 
PM.  The Mayor called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the 
following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem 

George Pierce  
      John Henley  
      Jim Sharp 
      Ashley Curry, Mayor-Elect 
      Kimberly Cook, Council-Elect 
      Rusty Weaver, Council-Elect 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Paul Head, Council-Elect 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  

Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Wendy Dickerson, Dep. City Clerk 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
 
 
 Invocation was given by Mr. Sharp followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4872 
  
Resolution Number 4872 – A Resolution To Canvass The Votes For The City Of 

Vestavia Hills Municipal Election Held August 23, 2016 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 30, 2016 

Page 2 
 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4872 was by Mr. Pierce and 
second was by Mr. Henley.    

 
 The Mayor explained that the candidate election was held on August 23, 2016 and 
in order to allow for provisional balloting results, the canvass is required today at noon by 
Alabama law. 
 
 The City Clerk explained the results of the election and indicated that there were 
25 provisional votes turned over to the Board of Registrars and 4 were deemed to be 
counted.  Ms. Dickerson opened the secrecy envelope of each vote and the Clerk 
recorded the final vote as follows: 
 
Mayor: 
 Ashley Curry     3,715 
 Alberto “Butch” Zaragoza, Jr. 2,772 
 
Council, Place 1: 
 John Henley    2,920 
 Dennis “Rusty” Weaver  3,291 
 
Council, Place 2: 
 Kim Benos    2,730 
 Kimberly Cook   3,609 
 
Council, Place 3: 
 Steve Ammons    2,334 
 Paul J. Head    2,549 
 Robert de Buys   1,420 
 
Council Place 4: 
 Robert “Bob” Elliott   2,083 
 George Pierce    4,113 
 
 She declared that the winners were Ashley Curry, Mayor; Dennis “Rusty” 
Weaver, Council Place 1; Kimberly Cook, Council Place 2; and George Pierce, Council 
Place 4.  Since no single candidate received the majority of votes for Council, Place 3, 
then a runoff election was declared between Steve Ammons and Paul J. Head.  On 
Thursday, August 25, 2016, Mr. Ammons submitted a written affidavit of his desire to 
withdraw from the runoff election.  Pursuant to Alabama law, Paul J. Head was declared 
the winner for Council, Place 3.  She asked the Mayor to obtain an amendment to reflect 
the final tally of the votes. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a motion for an amendment to Resolution 
Number 4872 to reflect the final tally. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 August 30, 2016 

Page 3 
 

MOTION Mr. Ammons made the motion to approve the amendment for Resolution 
Number 4872 in order to reflect the final tally of votes.  Mr. Henley 
seconded the motion.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 The Mayor called for the question: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 None. 
 
 At 12:08 PM, Mr. Henley made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Mr. Pierce. 
Meeting adjourned at 12:08 PM.   
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution Number 4866 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4866 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING 

THE GENERAL FUND BUDGET, A SPECIAL 
REVENUE FUND BUDGET, A CAPITAL PROJECT 
FUND BUDGET, AND A SIDEWALK PROJECT 
FUND BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING OCTOBER 
1, 2016 UNTIL SEPTEMBER 30, 2017. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared and presented a “general fund 

budget” which has been reviewed and amended by the City Council for said period 

reflecting anticipated expenditures in the amount of $37,238,529 including transfers out, 

to be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2016, through September 30, 2017; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “special fund budget” for said 

period reflecting anticipated expenditures in the amount of $2,893,517 including transfers 

from the General Fund, to be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2016, through 

September 30, 2017; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “capital projects fund budget” for 

said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $1,194,463 to be effective for the 

period beginning October 1, 2016, through September 30, 2017. 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “sidewalk projects fund budget” 

for said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $120,000 to be effective for the 

period beginning October 1, 2016, through September 30, 2017. 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-57, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides as follows: 

 Annual appropriation of funds for expenditures of all 
departments and interest on indebtedness:  In all cities, the 
Council shall appropriate the sums necessary for the 
expenditures of the several City departments and for the 
interest on its bonded and other indebtedness, not 
exceeding in the aggregate within ten (10) percent of its 



Resolution Number 4866 
Page 2 

 
estimated expenses, and such City Council shall not 
appropriate in the aggregate an amount in excess of its 
annual legally authorized revenue.  But, nothing in this 
section shall prevent such cities from anticipating their 
revenues for the year for which such appropriation was 
made, or from contracting for temporary loans as provided 
in the applicable provision of this title, or from bonding or 
refunding their outstanding indebtedness or from 
appropriating anticipated revenue at any time for the 
current expenses of the City and interest on the bonded and 
other indebtedness of the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$33,514,676, of the municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for 

fiscal year 2016-2017 upon the terms, conditions, and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$2,604,165, of the municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills 

for fiscal year 2016-2017 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$1,075,017, of the “capital project fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2016-2017 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$108,000, of the “sidewalk project fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2016-2017 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

   1.  The municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $33,514,676, which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 



Resolution Number 4866 
Page 3 

 
$37,238,529 multiplied by 90% equals 

$33,513,676; and 
 

   2.  The municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City 

Council is hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $2,604,165 

which said amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated 

expenses: 

$2,893,517 multiplied by 90% equals 
$2,604,165; and 

 

   3.  The “capital projects fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $1,075,017 which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$1,194,463 multiplied by 90% equals 
$1,075,017; and 

 

   4.  The “sidewalk projects fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $120,000 which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$120,000 multiplied by 90% equals 
$108,000; and 

 

   5.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to expend the sum of 

$33,514,676 from the General Fund, $2,604,165 from the Special Revenue Fund, 

$1,075,017 from the Capital Projects Fund, and $108,000 from the Sidewalk Projects 



Resolution Number 4866 
Page 4 

 
Fund for municipal expenses for the period beginning October 1, 2016, and ending 

September 30, 2017. 

   6.  Copies of the budget outlines are attached hereto, marked as 

Exhibit “A” and incorporated into this Resolution by reference as though set out fully 

herein. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, in an effort to formalize the City’s self-

insurance of its general liability risk exposures and the self-insured retention it utilizes, 

the Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the reallocation of $250,000 of the General 

Fund assigned fund balance for potential future claims activity beginning in Fiscal Year 

2017. 

This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its approval and 

adoption. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 











8/31/2016 VESTAVIA HILLS
BUDGET SUMMARY BY FUND

FY2017

FUNDS GENERAL FUND 4¢ GASOLINE 5¢ GASOLINE 7¢ GASOLINE E-911 COURT
LIBRARY 

STATE AID
LIBRARY 

DONATIONS TAG ADMIN CAPITAL SIDEWALK Grand Total
CITY REVENUE 21,714,120 2,000 782,250 516,000 95,000 113,973 50,000 23,273,343
COUNTY REVENUE 15,002,746 625,000 15,627,746
STATE REVENUE 131,895 199,000 95,000 300,000 21,020 290,650 1,037,565
PARKS & RECREATION 336,850 336,850

Total Revenue 37,185,611 199,000 95,000 927,000 782,250 516,000 21,020 95,000 113,973 340,650 0 40,275,504

NON DEPARTMENTAL * 3,296,121 3,296,121
CITY COUNCIL 81,425 81,425
MAYOR & ADMINISTRATION 1,150,213 113,973 1,264,186
CITY CLERK 374,601 6,454 381,055
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX 366,857 366,857
INFORMATION SERVICES 458,609 44,330 502,939
INSPECTION 509,323 18,359 527,682
COURT & CORRECTIONS 0 463,713 463,713
DISPATCH/E911 0 773,371 773,371
POLICE 8,206,286 93,203 298,525 8,598,014
FIRE 9,629,384 574,239 10,203,623
ENGINEERING 0 0
PUBLIC SERVICES 6,069,830 199,000 95,000 927,000 150,023 120,000 7,560,853
CITY GARAGE 294,837 294,837
PUBLIC LIBRARY 1,950,301 21,020 207,237 49,615 2,228,173
PARKS & RECREATION 0 0

Total Expenses 32,387,786 199,000 95,000 927,000 773,371 556,916 21,020 207,237 113,973 1,141,545 120,000 36,542,848

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (under) 
Expenditures 4,797,825 0 0 0 8,879 (40,916) 0 (112,237) 0 (800,895) (120,000) 3,732,656

TRANSFERS OUT (765,404) (52,918) (818,322)
TRANSFERS IN 52,918 27,128 738,276 818,322
DEBT SERVICE TRANSFER OUT ** (4,015,339) (4,015,339)
OTHER FUND TRANSFER OUT (70,000) (70,000)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (4,797,825) 0 0 0 0 27,128 0 0 0 685,358 0 (4,085,339)

Net Change in Fund Balance 0 0 0 0 8,879 (13,788) 0 (112,237) 0 (115,537) (120,000) (352,683)



Resolution Number 4869 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4869 
 

AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING AN INCREASE 
IN SALARY AND WAGES FOR EMPLOYEES 

 
 THIS RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA ON AUGUST 22, 

2016. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared budgets for the said fiscal year 

2016-2017 for a two-percent (2.0%) across-the-board increase of wages and salaries for 

all employees; and 

 WHEREAS, the Council, at its regularly scheduled meeting of August 22, 2016, 

voted to approve a two-percent (2.0%) across-the-board increase in wages and salaries 

for all employees. 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council hereby approves a two-percent (2.0%) across-the-board 

increase in wages and salaries for all employees; and 

2. Said increase is effective October 1, 2016. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4870 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING FINANCING TERMS FOR CITY 
VEHICLES THROUGH BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY 

 
 WHEREAS, The City of Vestavia Hills (“Governmental Entity”) has previously 

determined to undertake a project for the purchase of various vehicles & equipment (the 

“Project”) and the Officer of the Governmental Entity responsible for financial affairs of the 

Governmental Entity (the “Finance Officer”) has now presented a proposal for the financing of 

such Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Governmental Entity hereby determines to finance the Project through Branch 

Banking and Trust Company (“BB&T”), in accordance with the proposal dated August 

12, 2016.  The amount financed shall not exceed $730,682.00, the annual interest rate (in 

the absence of default of change in tax status) shall not exceed interest rate as detailed 

and the financing term shall not exceed 7 years from closing; and 

2. All financing contracts and all related documents for the closing of the financing (the 

“Financing Documents”) shall be consistent with the foregoing terms.  All officers and 

employees of the Governmental Entity are hereby authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver any Financing Documents, and to take all such further action as they may 

consider necessary or desirable to carry out the financing of the Project as contemplated 

by the proposal and this resolution.  The Financing Documents shall include a Financing 

Agreement and a Project Fund Agreement as BB&T may request. 

3. The Finance Officer is hereby authorized and directed to hold executed copies of the 

Financing Documents until the conditions for the delivery of the Financing Documents 

have been completed to such officer’s satisfaction. The Finance Officer is authorized to 

approve changes to any Financing Documents previously signed by Governmental Entity 

officers or employees, provided that such changes shall not substantially alter the intent 

of such documents or certificates from the intent expressed in the forms executed by such 

officers. The Financing Documents shall be in such final forms as the Finance Officer 

shall approve, with the Finance Officer’s release of any Financing Document for delivery 



constituting conclusive evidence of such officer’s final approval of the document’s final 

form. 

4. The Governmental Entity shall not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission 

of which shall cause its interest payments on this financing to be includable in the gross 

income for federal income tax purposes of the registered owners of the interest payment 

obligations under the Financing Documents. The Governmental Entity hereby designates 

its obligations to make principal and interest payments under the Financing Documents as 

“qualified tax-exempt obligations” for the purpose of Internal Revenue Code Section 

265(b)(3). 

5. The Governmental Entity intends that the adoption of this resolution will be a declaration 

of the Governmental Entity’s official intent to reimburse expenditures for the Project that 

is to be financed from the proceeds of the BB&T financing described above. The 

Governmental Entity intends that funds that have been advanced, or that may be 

advanced, from the Governmental Entity’s general fund, or any other Governmental 

Entity fund related to the Project, for Project costs may be reimbursed from the financing 

proceeds. 

6. The officers of the Governmental Entity and any person or persons designated and 

authorized by any officer of the Governmental Entity to act in the name and on behalf of 

the Governmental Entity, or any one or more of them, are authorized to do and perform 

or cause to be done and performed in the name and on behalf of the Governmental Entity 

such other acts, to pay or cause to be paid on behalf of the Governmental Entity such 

related costs and expenses, and to execute and deliver or cause to be executed and 

delivered in the name and on behalf of the Governmental Entity such other notices, 

requests, demands, directions, consents, approvals, orders, applications, certificates, 

agreements, further assurances, or other instruments or communications, under the 

corporate seal of the Governmental Entity, or otherwise, as they or any of them may 

deem necessary, advisable, or appropriate in order to (a) complete the plan of financing 

contemplated by the Financing Documents, (b) carry into effect the intent of the 

provisions of this resolution and the Financing Documents, and (c) demonstrate the 

validity of the Financing Documents, the absence of any pending or threatened litigation 

with respect to the Financing Documents and the plan of financing contemplated by the 



Financing Documents, and the exemption of interest on the interest payment obligations 

under the Financing Documents from federal and State of Alabama income taxation. 

7. All prior actions of Governmental Entity officers in furtherance of the purposes of this 

resolution are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed. All other resolutions (or parts 

thereof) in conflict with this resolution are hereby repealed, to the extent of the conflict. 

This resolution shall take effect immediately. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
      APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
 
      Jeffrey D. Downes, 
      City Manager 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
SEAL 
 
 



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
VEHICLES and HEAVY EQUIPMENT
"LEASE/PURCHASE PROPOSALS"

FISCAL 2016-2017

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Description Loan Amount Terms BB&T Bank Cadence Bank Hancock Bank National Bk of Commerce Renasant Bank  Regions Bank Signature Public Funding Corp. SouthLake Capital

Vehicles $510,882 Rates ‐ 3 yrs 1.33% 3.03% 1.65% 2.79% 1.93% 1.83% 1.56% 2.65%
Heavy/Commercial Vehicles $55,000 Rates ‐ 5 yrs 1.49% 3.31% 1.93% 2.88% 1.99% 2.34% 1.71% 2.65%

Heavy Equipment $164,800 Rates ‐ 7 yrs 1.66% 3.58% 2.19% 2.98% 2.06% 2.61% 2.01% 2.65%
TOTAL LEASE/LOAN AMOUNT $730,682
Combined Percentage Total 4.48% 9.92% 5.77% 8.65% 5.98% 6.78% 5.28% 7.95%

Rankings 1 12 5 10 6 7 4 9

9 10 11 12
Description Loan Amount Terms SouthPoint Bank SunTrust Leasing  The Bancorp Bank Trustmark National Bk

Vehicles $510,882 Rates ‐ 3 yrs 2.50% 1.495% 1.99% 1.55%
Heavy/Commercial Vehicles $55,000 Rates ‐ 5 yrs 3.00% 1.640% 2.35% 1.66%

Heavy Equipment $164,800 Rates ‐ 7 yrs 3.75% 1.785% 3.25% 1.84%
TOTAL LEASE/LOAN AMOUNT $730,682
Combined Percentage Total 9.25% 4.92% 7.59% 5.05%

Rankings 11 2 8 3

Financial Institutions and Banks 
Who Didn't  Submit Proposals: BB&T Bank 1 4.48%

13 BBVA /Compass Bank SunTrust Leasing 2 4.92%
14 First Partners Bank Trustmark National Bk 3 5.05%
15 IBERIA Bank Signature Public Funding 4 5.28%

Hancock Bank 5 5.77%
Renasant Bank 6 5.98%
Regions Bank 7 6.78%
The Bancorp Bank 8 7.59%
SouthLake Capital 9 7.95%
National Bk of Commerce 10 8.65%
SouthPoint Bank 11 9.25%
Cadence Bank 12 9.92%

PROPOSALS
RATE RANKINGS

FISCAL YEAR 2016‐2017

BkContacts



VIA ELECTRONIC DELIVERY                    mcwilliams@bbandt.com 

mturner@vhal.org           direct dial:  704-954-1710 

 
August 12, 2016 
 
 
Mr. Melvin Turner, III 
Finance Director 
City of Vestavia Hills 
513 Montgomery Highway 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216 
 
Dear Mr. Turner: 
 

We at Branch Banking and Trust Company are pleased that we will be working with you to 
provide financing for numerous vehicles for various City departments.  By this letter we want to 
provide you with our proposed draft financing documents (please forward these to your attorney for 
review, also), and to outline the additional documentation we will need from you to close the 
financing. 
 

We have enclosed the following draft documents for this financing: 
 
1. Financing Agreement.  This is the main document for the financing.  The Financing 

Agreement sets out the loan and repayment terms, provides for the security interest that 
secures the loan and contains other provisions related to the City’s care and use of the 
property being financed.  

 
2. Project Fund Agreements.  There are three separate Project Fund Agreements, one each for 

the 3, 5 and 7 year terms.  Each Project Fund Agreement provides for the custody of financing 
proceeds pending their use on project costs.  At closing, we will disburse the loan proceeds 
into the three separate project fund escrow accounts, from which you may draw down funds 
as needed.  Once a closing date is scheduled, we will e-mail to you requisition forms and 
instructions for drawing down funds. 

 
3. Closing Certificate. This certificate, among other things, identifies the officials authorized 

to sign financing documents.  At your earliest convenience, please e-mail to us a copy of 
the approving resolution your governing board adopts for this financing (our suggested 
form of this resolution was attached to our financing proposal to you).  We will attach that 
copy to the Closing Certificate. 

 
4. Use of Proceeds Certificate. This certificate provides information regarding the City’s 

planned use and expenditure of financing proceeds, to document compliance with federal 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



rules for tax-exempt financing.  You will see that there are some blanks in paragraph four; we 
need information from you to complete these blanks.  The federal tax rules applicable to local 
government financings can be tricky and technical; please let us know if you want to discuss 
any aspect of the applicable tax rules. 

 
5. Attorney’s legal opinion.  The attorney’s opinion must be on his or her letterhead, dated the 

day of closing and delivered at closing.  The opinion will not be valid if it is dated prior to 
the Financing Agreement. 

 
6. IRS Forms 8038-G and 8038-GC These forms are used to provide the required notification 

to the IRS regarding the tax-exempt financing.  We have partially completed each form based 
on information currently in our file.  Please review these forms and the companion 
instructions with your attorney and complete the remainder of the forms, as well as make any 
needed revisions. 

 
7. Invoicing Information Sheet.  We have also enclosed a form requesting invoicing 

instructions.  Please complete and return this form along with the other documents so that we 
will know where to send reminder invoices for your payments.  

 
 

We appreciate your attention to these items.  After reviewing the enclosed documents, please 
contact Matt Williams at 678-989-1110 to review this package in detail, so he may answer your 
questions about the documents and ensure everyone’s full understanding of what has to be done for 
the closing.  When you call, Matt will also determine a convenient day and time for closing.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
BB&T Governmental Finance 

 
Mary Comstock, NCCP 
Documentation Specialist 
 
Attachments 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 

Branch Banking and Trust Company 
 

Financing for The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 Document Checklist 

 
 
1. Financing Agreement, with Exhibits: 

A) Project /Equipment description 
B) Payment schedules (3) 

 
2. Project Fund Agreement as to contract 00003 (various vehicles) 

 
3. Project Fund Agreement as to contract 00004 (remount rescue truck) 

 
4. Project Fund Agreement as to contract 00005 (F-450 work truck) 
 
5. Closing Certificate  

 
6. Copy of Resolution approving financing 
 
7. Use of Proceeds Certificate 
 
8. Governmental Entity Attorney’s closing opinion  
 
9. Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G as to contract 00003 (various vehicles) 

 
10. Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G as to contract 00004 (remount rescue truck) 

 
11. Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-GC as to contract 00005 (F-450 work truck) 
 
12. Invoicing Information Sheet 

 
 

 
 
Note:  Copies of Certificate of Insurance, Invoices and Title Applications listing BB&T 
Governmental Finance as 1st lienholder to be provided by the City post-closing with requisitions for 
funds from project fund escrow account. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
FINANCING AGREEMENT 

 
 
 THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of August ___, 2016, 
and is between the CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a public body of the State of Alabama (the 
“Governmental Entity”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY (“BB&T”). 
 
 

R E C I T A L S: 
 
 The Governmental Entity has the power, pursuant to Chapter 16A of Title 41 of the Code of 
Alabama (1975), to enter into installment contracts to finance the purchase or improvement of 
personal property and to secure its obligations under such contracts by security interests in all or a 
portion of the property purchased or improved.  This Agreement provides for BB&T to advance 
$730,682.00 to the Governmental Entity to enable the Governmental Entity to acquire and install 
the Equipment (as defined below), and provides for securing the Governmental Entity’s obligations 
under this Agreement by creating certain security interests in favor of BB&T. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises in this Agreement, 
and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereby agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION 
 
 Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, capitalized terms used in this Agreement and 
not otherwise defined shall have the following meanings: 
 
 “Additional Payments” means any of BB&T’s reasonable and customary fees and expenses 
related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any of BB&T’s expenses (including 
attorneys’ fees) in prosecuting or defending any action or proceeding in connection with this 
Agreement, any required license or permit fees, state and local sales and use or ownership taxes or 
property taxes which BB&T is required to pay as a result of this Agreement, inspection and re-
inspection fees, and any other amounts payable by the Governmental Entity (or paid by BB&T on 
the Governmental Entity’s behalf) as a result of its covenants under this Agreement (together with 
interest that may accrue on any of the above if the Governmental Entity shall fail to pay the same, 
as set forth in this Agreement). 
 
 “Alabama Governmental Leasing Act” means Chapter 16A of Title 41 of the Code of 
Alabama (1975), as amended from time to time, or any successor provision of law. 
 
 “Amount Advanced” has the meaning assigned in Section 2.02. 
 
 “Bond Counsel Opinion” means a written opinion (in form and substance acceptable to 
BB&T) of an attorney or firm of attorneys acceptable to BB&T.   

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 “Budget Officer” means the Governmental Entity officer from time to time charged with 
preparing the Governmental Entity’s draft budget as initially submitted to the Governing Board for 
its consideration. 
 
 “Business Day” means any day on which banks in the State are not by law authorized or 
required to remain closed. 
 
 “Closing Date” means the date on which this Agreement is first executed and delivered by 
the parties. 
 
 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including regulations, 
rulings and revenue procedures promulgated thereunder or under the Internal Revenue Code of 
1954, as amended, as applicable to the Governmental Entity’s obligations under this Agreement 
and all proposed (including temporary) regulations which, if adopted in the form proposed, would 
apply to such obligations.  Reference to any specific Code provision shall be deemed to include any 
successor provisions thereto. 
 
 “Equipment” has the meaning assigned in Section 2.03, and is generally expected to include 
the personal property described in Exhibit A. 
 
 “Event of Default” means one or more events of default as defined in Section 6.01. 
 
 “Event of Nonappropriation” means any failure by the Governing Board to adopt, by the 
first day of any Fiscal Year, a budget for the Governmental Entity that includes an appropriation 
for Required Payments as contemplated by Section 3.05. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the Governmental Entity’s fiscal year beginning July 1 or such other 
fiscal year as the Governmental Entity may later lawfully establish. 
 
 “Governing Board” means the Governmental Entity’s governing board or body as from time 
to time constituted. 
 
 “Governmental Entity” means the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 
 
 “Governmental Entity Representative” means the Governmental Entity’s Finance Officer 
or such other person or persons at the time designated, by a written certificate furnished to BB&T 
and signed on the Governmental Entity’s behalf by the presiding officer of the Governmental 
Entity’s Governing Board, to act on the Governmental Entity’s behalf for any purpose (or any 
specified purpose) under this Agreement. 
 
 “Installment Payments” means the payments payable by the Governmental Entity pursuant 
to Section 3.01. 
 
 “Net Proceeds,” when used with respect to any amounts derived from claims made on 
account of insurance coverages required under this Agreement, any condemnation award arising 
out of the condemnation of all or any portion of the Equipment, or any amounts received in lieu 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



or in settlement of any of the foregoing, means the amount remaining after deducting from the 
gross proceeds thereof all expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) incurred in the 
collection of such proceeds, and after reimbursement to the Governmental Entity or BB&T for 
amounts previously expended to remedy the event giving rise to such payment or proceeds. 
 
 “Obligations” means the Governmental Entity’s obligations to pay Installment Payments.  
 
 “Payment Dates” means the dates indicated in Exhibits B-1, B-2 and B-3. 
 
 “Prime Rate” means the interest rate so denominated and set by Branch Banking & Trust 
Company of North Carolina (whether or not such bank, or any affiliate thereof, is at any time the 
counterparty to this Agreement) as its “Prime Rate,” as in effect from time to time.   
 
 “Project Costs” means all costs of designing, planning, acquiring, and installing the 
Equipment as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that 
will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the 
designated interest component of Installment Payments payable by the Governmental Entity 
under this Agreement, including (a) sums required to reimburse the Governmental Entity or its 
agents for advances made for any such costs, (b) interest during the acquisition and installation of 
the Equipment and for up to six months thereafter, and (c) all costs related to the financing of the 
Equipment through this Agreement and all related transactions. 
 
 “Project Funds” has the meaning assigned in Section 2.02. 
 
 “Project Fund Agreement” has the meaning assigned in Section 2.02. 
 
 “Required Payments” means Installment Payments and Additional Payments. 
 
 “Security Property” means the Equipment and all amounts on deposit from time to time in 
the Project Fund. 
 
 “State” means the State of Alabama. 
 
 “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code or any successor law as in effect from time to 
time in the State, currently Title 7 of the Code of Alabama (1975). 
 
 All references in this Agreement to designated “Sections” and other subdivisions are to 
the designated sections and other subdivisions of this Agreement.  The words “hereof” and 
“hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any 
particular Section or other subdivision unless the context indicates otherwise.  Words importing 
the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



ARTICLE II 
 

SECURITY PROVIDED BY THIS AGREEMENT; ADVANCE 
 
 2.01. Security for Payment and Performance.  This Agreement secures the 
Governmental Entity’s payment, as and when the same shall become due and payable, of all 
Required Payments and the Governmental Entity’s timely compliance with all terms, covenants and 
conditions of this Agreement. 
 
 2.02. Advance.  BB&T advances $730,682.00 (the “Amount Advanced”) to the 
Governmental Entity on the Closing Date, and the Governmental Entity hereby accepts the Amount 
Advanced from BB&T.  BB&T is advancing the Amount Advanced by making deposits to three 
Project Funds (the “Project Funds”) as provided in three Project Fund Agreements of even date (the 
“Project Fund Agreements”) between the Governmental Entity and BB&T.  All amounts on deposit 
from time to time in the Project Funds, including the Amount Advanced and all investment 
earnings, shall be used only for Project Costs until the Project Funds are terminated as provided 
under the Project Fund Agreements. 
 
 2.03. UCC Security Agreement.   
 
 (a) This Agreement is intended as and constitutes a security agreement pursuant to the 
UCC with respect to the following:   
 

(i) all moneys on deposit from time to time in the Project Fund; and 
 

(ii) all property acquired by the Governmental Entity with funds advanced by 
BB&T pursuant to this Agreement, all personal property obtained in substitution or 
replacement therefor, and all personal property obtained in substitution or 
replacement for any portion of the Security Property, and all proceeds of the 
foregoing (collectively, the “Equipment”). 

 
The Governmental Entity hereby grants to BB&T a security interest in the Equipment and in the 
moneys on deposit from time to time in the Project Fund to secure the Required Payments.   
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity shall execute, deliver and file, or cause to be filed, in such 
place or places as may be required by law, financing statements (including any continuation 
statements required by the UCC or requested by BB&T) in such form as BB&T may reasonably 
require to perfect and continue the security interest in the Equipment and in the moneys on deposit 
from time to time in the Project Fund. 
 
 2.04. Nature of Governmental Entity’s Obligation.   
 
 (a) The parties intend that this transaction comply with the Alabama Governmental 
Leasing Act.  The indebtedness evidenced by this Agreement shall be a general obligation of the 
Governmental Entity for the payment of the Required Payments on which the full faith and credit of 
the Governmental Entity are hereby irrevocably pledged.  The Governmental Entity hereby 
covenants and agrees to levy and collect taxes, to the maximum extent permitted by law, at such 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



rate or rates as shall make available tax proceeds which, when added to the revenues of the 
Governmental Entity from other sources available for such purposes, will be sufficient to pay 
reasonable expenses of carrying on the necessary governmental functions of the Governmental 
Entity and to pay the Required Payments under this Agreement as the same shall become due and 
payable.  To the extent of any conflict between this Section and any other provision of this 
Agreement, this Section shall take priority. 
 
 (b) Nothing in this Section is intended to impair or prohibit execution on the Security 
Property if the Required Payments are not paid when due or otherwise upon the occurrence of an 
Event of Default under this Agreement or the Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 2.05. Governmental Entity’s Continuing Obligations.  The Governmental Entity shall 
remain liable for full performance of all its covenants under this Agreement (subject to the 
limitations described in Section 2.04), including payment of all Required Payments, 
notwithstanding the occurrence of any event or circumstances whatsoever, including any of the 
following: 
 
 (a) BB&T’s waiver of any right granted or remedy available to it; 
 
 (b) The forbearance or extension of time for payment or performance of any obligation 
under this Agreement, whether granted to the Governmental Entity, a subsequent owner of the 
Equipment or any other person;  
 
 (c) The release of all or part of the Security Property or the release of any party who 
assumes all or any part of such performance; 
 
 (d) Any act or omission by BB&T (but this provision does not relieve BB&T of any 
of its obligations under this Agreement or the Project Fund Agreement);  
 
 (e) The sale of all or any part of the Security Property; or 
 
 (f) Another party’s assumption of the Governmental Entity’s obligations under this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE III 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY’S PAYMENT OBLIGATION AND RELATED MATTERS 
 
 3.01. Installment Payments.  The Governmental Entity shall repay the Amount 
Advanced by making Installment Payments to BB&T in lawful money of the United States at the 
times and in the amounts set forth in Exhibits B-1, B-2 and B-3, except as otherwise provided in 
this Agreement.  As indicated in Exhibits B-1, B-2 and B-3, the Installment Payments reflect the 
repayment of the Amount Advanced and include designated interest components. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 3.02. Additional Payments.  The Governmental Entity shall pay all Additional Payments 
on a timely basis directly to the person or entity to which such Additional Payments are owed in 
lawful money of the United States. 
 
 3.03. Prepayment.  The Governmental Entity may prepay the outstanding principal 
component of the Amount Advanced, at its option on any scheduled Payment Date, in whole but 
not in part, by paying (a) all Additional Payments then due and payable, (b) all interest accrued and 
unpaid to the prepayment date, and (c) 100% of the outstanding principal amount.   
 
 3.04. Late Payments.  If the Governmental Entity fails to pay any Installment Payment 
when due, the Governmental Entity shall pay additional interest on the principal component of the 
late Installment Payment (as permitted by law) at an annual rate equal to the Prime Rate from the 
original due date. 
 
 3.05. Appropriations.  
 
 (a) The Budget Officer shall include in the initial proposal for each of the 
Governmental Entity’s annual budgets the amount of all Installment Payments and estimated 
Additional Payments coming due during the Fiscal Year to which such budget applies.  
Notwithstanding that the Budget Officer includes such an appropriation or otherwise lawfully sets 
aside funds for Required Payments in a proposed budget, the Governing Board may determine not 
to include an appropriation or not to set aside funds in the Governmental Entity’s final budget for 
such Fiscal Year.  If the Governing Board determines not to include an appropriation or not to set 
aside funds for Required Payments in a proposed budget in the Governmental Entity’s final budget 
for such Fiscal Year, the parties hereby stipulate that this Agreement shall terminate without further 
monetary obligation on the part of the Governmental Entity at the close of the Fiscal Year 
immediately prior to the Fiscal Year with respect to which such final budget relates. 
 
 (b) The Budget Officer shall deliver to BB&T, within 15 days after the beginning of 
each Fiscal Year, a certificate stating whether an amount equal to the Installment Payments and 
estimated Additional Payments coming due during the next Fiscal Year has been appropriated by 
the Governmental Entity in such budget for such purposes.   
 
 (c) The actions required of the Governmental Entity and its officers pursuant to this 
Section shall be deemed to be and shall be construed to be in fulfillment of ministerial duties, and it 
shall be the duty of each and every Governmental Entity official to take such action and do such 
things as are required by law in the performance of the official duty of such officials to enable the 
Governmental Entity to carry out and perform the actions required pursuant to this Section and the 
remainder of this Agreement to be carried out and performed by the Governmental Entity. 
 
 (d) The Governmental Entity reasonably believes that it can obtain funds sufficient to 
pay all Required Payments when due and hereby covenants that it will do all things lawfully within 
its power to obtain, maintain and properly request and pursue funds from which all Required 
Payments may be made.  It is the Governmental Entity’s intent to make all Required Payments 
when due if funds are legally available therefor. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 (e) The Governmental Entity agrees (i) that it will not cancel this Agreement under the 
provisions of this Section 3.05 if any funds are appropriated to it, or by it, for the acquisition, 
retention or operation of the Equipment or other equipment performing functions similar to the 
Equipment for the fiscal period in which such termination occurs or the next succeeding Fiscal 
Year thereafter, and (ii) that it will not, during a period of five (5) years after such termination 
occurs, appropriate funds or otherwise give priority in the application of funds to any other 
functionally similar equipment.  This Section 3.05 will not be construed so as to permit the 
Governmental Entity to terminate this Agreement in order to acquire any other equipment or to 
allocate funds directly or indirectly to perform essentially the same function for which the 
Equipment is intended. 
 
 3.06. No Abatement.  There shall be no abatement or reduction of the Required 
Payments for any reason, including, but not limited to, any defense, recoupment, setoff, 
counterclaim, or any claim (real or imaginary) arising out of or related to the Equipment, except as 
expressly provided in this Agreement.  The Governmental Entity assumes and shall bear the entire 
risk of loss and damage to the Equipment from any cause whatsoever.  The Installment Payments 
shall be made in all events unless the Governmental Entity’s obligation to make Installment 
Payments is terminated as otherwise provided in this Agreement. 
 
 3.07. Interest Rate and Payment Adjustment.   (a) “Rate Adjustment Event” 
means any action by the Internal Revenue Service (including the delivery of a deficiency notice) or 
any other federal court or administrative body determining (i) that the interest component of 
Installment Payments, or any portion thereof, is includable in any counterparty’s gross income for 
federal income tax purposes or (ii) that the Governmental Entity’s obligations under this Agreement 
are not “qualified tax-exempt obligations” within the meaning of Code Section 265 (a “265 
Event”), in any case as a result of any misrepresentation by the Governmental Entity or as a result 
of any action the Governmental Entity takes or fails to take. 
 
 (b) Upon any Rate Adjustment Event, (i) the unpaid principal portion of the Amount 
Advanced shall continue to be payable on dates and in amounts as set forth in Exhibits B-1, B-2 
and B-3, but (ii) the interest components of the Installment Payments shall be recalculated, at an 
interest rate equal to an annualized interest rate equal to the Prime Rate plus 2% (200 basis points), 
to the date (retroactively, if need be) determined pursuant to the Rate Adjustment Event to be the 
date interest became includable in any counterparty’s gross income for federal income tax purposes 
(in the case of a 265 Event, retroactively to the Closing Date). 
 
 (c) The Governmental Entity shall pay interest at such adjusted rate (subject to credit 
for interest previously paid) to each affected counterparty, notwithstanding the fact that any 
particular counterparty may not be a counterparty to this Agreement on the date of a Rate 
Adjustment Event.  The Governmental Entity shall additionally pay to all affected counterparties 
any interest, penalties or other charges assessed against or payable by such counterparty and 
attributable to a Rate Adjustment Event notwithstanding the prior repayment of the entire 
Amount Advanced or any transfer to another counterparty. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 

ARTICLE IV 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY’S COVENANTS, REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES 

 
 4.01. Indemnification.  To the extent permitted by law, the Governmental Entity shall 
indemnify, protect and save BB&T and its officers and directors harmless from all liability, 
obligations, losses, claims, damages, actions, suits, proceedings, costs and expenses, including 
attorneys’ fees, arising out of, connected with, or resulting directly or indirectly from the Security 
Property or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation the 
possession, condition or use of the Equipment.  The indemnification arising under this Section shall 
survive the Agreement’s termination. 
 
 4.02. Covenant as to Tax Exemption.  (a) The Governmental Entity shall not take or 
permit, or omit to take or cause to be taken, any action that would cause its obligations under this 
Agreement to be “arbitrage bonds” or “private activity bonds” within the meaning of the Code, or 
otherwise adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the 
designated interest component of Installment Payments to which such components would otherwise 
be entitled.  If the Governmental Entity should take or permit, or omit to take or cause to be taken, 
any such action, the Governmental Entity shall take or cause to be taken all lawful actions within its 
power necessary to rescind or correct such actions or omissions promptly upon having knowledge 
thereof. 
 
 (b) In particular, the Governmental Entity covenants that it shall not permit the Amount 
Advanced, plus the investment earnings thereon (the “Proceeds”), to be used in any manner that 
would result in 5% or more of the Installment Payments being directly or indirectly secured by an 
interest in property, or derived from payments in respect of property or borrowed money, being in 
either case used in a trade or business carried on by any person other than a governmental unit, as 
provided in Code Section 141(b), or result in  5% or more of the Proceeds being used directly or 
indirectly to make or finance loans to any persons other than a governmental unit, as provided in 
Code Section 141(c); provided, however, that if the Governmental Entity receives a Bond Counsel 
Opinion that compliance with any such covenant is not required to prevent the interest component 
of Installment Payments from being includable in the counterparty’s gross income for federal 
income tax purposes under existing law, the Governmental Entity need not comply with such 
covenant. 
 
 (c) Unless the Governmental Entity qualifies for one or more exceptions to the arbitrage 
rebate requirement with respect to this financing, the Governmental Entity shall provide for the 
rebate to the United States of (i) at least 90% of the required rebate amount (A) on or before 60 
days after the date that is five years from the Closing Date, and (B) at least once during each five 
years thereafter while the Obligations remain outstanding, and (ii) the entire required rebate amount 
on or before 60 days after the date of final payment of the Obligations.  Payments shall be made in 
the manner prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service.  The Governmental Entity shall cause the 
required rebate amount to be recomputed as of each fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, and again 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



as of the date of final payment of the Obligations.  The Governmental Entity shall provide BB&T 
with a copy of the results of such computation within 20 days after the end of each computation 
period or final payment of the Obligations.  Each computation shall be prepared or approved, at the 
Governmental Entity’s expense, by a person with experience in matters of accounting for federal 
income tax purposes, a bona fide arbitrage rebate calculating and reporting service, or nationally 
recognized bond counsel, in any case reasonably acceptable to BB&T.  The Governmental Entity 
shall engage such rebate consultant to perform the necessary calculations not less than 60 days prior 
to the date of the required payment. 
 
 (d) The Governmental Entity acknowledges that its personnel must be familiar with 
the arbitrage rebate rules, because the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Obligations 
depends upon continuing compliance with such rules.  The Governmental Entity therefore 
covenants to take all reasonable action to assure that Governmental Entity personnel responsible 
for the investment of and accounting for financing proceeds comply with such rules. 
 
 4.03. Validity of Organization and Acts.  The Governmental Entity is validly organized 
and existing under State law, has full power to enter into this Agreement and has duly authorized 
and has obtained all required approvals and all other necessary acts required prior to the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement.  This Agreement is a valid, legal and binding obligation of the 
Governmental Entity. 
 
 4.04. Maintenance of Existence.  The Governmental Entity shall maintain its existence, 
shall continue to be a local governmental unit of the State, validly organized and existing under 
State law, and shall not consolidate with or merge into another local governmental unit of the State, 
or permit one or more other local governmental units of the State to consolidate with or merge into 
it, unless the local governmental unit thereby resulting assumes the Governmental Entity’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 
 
 4.05. Acquisition of Permits and Approvals.  All permits, consents, approvals or 
authorizations of all governmental entities and regulatory bodies, and all filings and notices 
required on the Governmental Entity’s part to have been obtained or completed as of today in 
connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the acquisition and installation of the 
Equipment have been obtained and are in full force and effect, and there is no reason why any 
future required permits, consents, approvals, authorizations or orders cannot be obtained as needed. 
 
 4.06. No Breach of Law or Contract.  Neither the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, nor the 
fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (a) to the best of the 
Governmental Entity’s knowledge, constitutes a violation of any provision of law governing the 
Governmental Entity or (b) results in a breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of any contract, 
agreement or instrument or order, rule or regulation to which the Governmental Entity is a party or 
by which the Governmental Entity is bound. 
 
 4.07. No Litigation.  There is no litigation or any governmental administrative 
proceeding to which the Governmental Entity (or any official thereof in an official capacity) is a 
party that is pending or, to the best of the Governmental Entity’s knowledge after reasonable 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



investigation, threatened with respect to (a) the Governmental Entity’s organization or existence, 
(b) its authority to execute and deliver this Agreement or to comply with the terms of this 
Agreement, (c) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement, (d) the title to office of any Governing Board member or any other Governmental 
Entity officer, (e) any authority or proceedings relating to the Governmental Entity’s execution or 
delivery of this Agreement, or (f) the undertaking of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement. 
 
 4.08. No Current Default or Violation.  (a) The Governmental Entity is not in violation 
of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it, (b) the Governmental Entity is not in default 
under any contract, other agreement, order, judgment, decree or other instrument or restriction of 
any kind to which the Governmental Entity is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its 
assets are subject, including this Agreement, and (c) no event or condition has happened or existed, 
or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument, including this Agreement, 
which constitutes or which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of 
default hereunder or thereunder. 
 
 4.09. No Misrepresentation.  No representation, covenant or warranty by the 
Governmental Entity in this Agreement is false or misleading in any material respect. 
 
 4.10. Environmental Warranties and Indemnification. (a) The Governmental 
Entity warrants and represents to BB&T that, to the best of the Governmental Entity’s knowledge 
after thorough investigation, the Equipment is not now and has not ever been used to generate, 
manufacture, refine, transport, treat, store, handle, dispose, transfer, produce or process 
Hazardous Materials.   
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity covenants that the Equipment shall be kept free of 
Hazardous Materials and shall not be used to generate, manufacture, refine, transport, treat, store, 
handle, dispose, transfer, produce or process Hazardous Materials, except in connection with the 
normal maintenance and operation of the Equipment, and the Governmental Entity shall not 
cause or permit, as a result of any intentional or unintentional act or omission on the part of the 
Governmental Entity or any lessee, the release of Hazardous Materials onto the Equipment or 
suffer the presence of Hazardous Materials on the Equipment, except in connection with the 
normal maintenance and operation of the Equipment.   
 
 (c) The Governmental Entity shall comply with, and ensure compliance by all users 
and lessees with, all applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations 
with respect to Hazardous Materials and shall keep the Equipment free and clear of any liens 
imposed pursuant to such laws, ordinances, rules and regulations.  If the Governmental Entity 
receives any notices from any governmental agency or any lessee with regard to Hazardous 
Materials on, from or affecting the Equipment, the Governmental Entity shall immediately notify 
BB&T.  The Governmental Entity shall conduct and complete all investigations, studies, 
sampling and testing and all remedial, removal and other actions necessary to clean up and 
remove all Hazardous Materials on, from or affecting the Equipment in accordance with all 
applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and policies and to 
BB&T’s satisfaction. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 (d) “Hazardous Materials” means any explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous 
materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic substances, or related materials, asbestos or any 
materials containing asbestos, or any other substance or material as defined by any federal, State 
or local environmental law, ordinance, rule or regulation including, without limitation, the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended 
(42 U.S.C. sections 9601 et seq.), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 
U.S.C. sections 1801 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 
U.S.C. sections 9601 et seq.), and the regulations adopted and publications promulgated pursuant 
thereto. 
 
 (e) To the extent permitted by law, the Governmental Entity shall indemnify and hold 
BB&T harmless from and against (i) any and all damages, penalties, fines, claims, liens, suits, 
liabilities, costs (including clean-up costs), judgments and expenses (including attorneys’, 
consultants’ or experts’ fees and expenses) of every kind and nature suffered by or asserted against 
BB&T as a direct or indirect result of any warranty or representation made by the Governmental 
Entity in subsections (a) through (c) above being false or untrue in any material respect, or (ii) any 
requirement under any law, regulation or ordinance, local, State or federal, which requires the 
elimination or removal of any hazardous materials, substances, wastes or other environmentally 
regulated substances by BB&T or the Governmental Entity or any transferee or assignee BB&T or 
the Governmental Entity. 
 
 (f) The Governmental Entity’s obligations under this Section shall continue in full force 
and effect notwithstanding full payment of the Required Payments or execution on the security 
interests created under this Agreement. 
 
 4.11. Further Instruments.  Upon BB&T’s request, the Governmental Entity shall 
execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments reasonably necessary or desired by 
BB&T to carry out more effectively the purposes of this Agreement or any other document related 
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and to subject to the liens and security interests 
hereof and thereof all or any part of the Security Property intended to be given or conveyed 
hereunder or thereunder, whether now given or conveyed or acquired and conveyed subsequent to 
the date of this Agreement. 
 
 4.12. BB&T’s Advances for Performance of Governmental Entity’s Obligations.  If 
the Governmental Entity fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, BB&T is 
hereby authorized, but not obligated, to perform such obligation or cause it to be performed.  All 
expenditures incurred by BB&T (including any advancement of funds for payment of taxes, 
insurance premiums or other costs of maintaining the Security Property, and any associated legal or 
other expenses), together with interest thereon at the Prime Rate, shall be secured as Additional 
Payments under this Agreement.  The Governmental Entity promises to pay all such amounts to 
BB&T immediately upon demand. 
 
 4.13. Equipment Will Be Used and Useful.  The acquisition and installation of the 
Equipment is necessary and expedient for the Governmental Entity, and will perform essential 
functions of the Governmental Entity appropriate for units of local government.  The Governmental 
Entity has an immediate need for, and expects to make immediate use of, all of the Equipment, and 
does not expect such need or use to diminish in any material respect during the term of the 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Agreement.  The Equipment will not be used in any private business or put to any private business 
use. 
 
 4.14. Financial Information.  (a)  The Governmental Entity shall send to BB&T a copy 
of the Governmental Entity’s audited financial statements for each Fiscal Year within 30 days of the 
Governmental Entity’s acceptance of such statements, but in any event within 210 days of the 
completion of such Fiscal Year. 
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity shall furnish BB&T, at such reasonable times as BB&T 
shall request, all other financial information (including, without limitation, the Governmental 
Entity’s annual budget as submitted or approved) as BB&T may reasonably request.  The 
Governmental Entity shall permit BB&T or its agents and representatives to inspect the 
Governmental Entity’s books and records and make extracts therefrom.   
 
 4.15. Taxes and Other Governmental Charges.  The Governmental Entity shall pay, as 
Additional Payments, the full amount of all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges 
lawfully made by any governmental body during the term of this Agreement.  With respect to 
special assessments or other governmental charges which may be lawfully paid in installments over 
a period of years, the Governmental Entity shall be obligated to provide for Additional Payments 
only for such installments as are required to be paid during the Agreement term.  The Governmental 
Entity shall not allow any liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges with respect to the 
Security Property or any portion thereof to become delinquent (including, without limitation, any 
taxes levied upon the Security Property or any portion thereof which, if not paid, will become a 
charge on any interest in the Security Property, including BB&T’s interest, or the rentals and 
revenues derived therefrom or hereunder). 
 
 4.16. Governmental Entity’s Insurance.  (a) The Governmental Entity shall, at its own 
expense, acquire, carry and maintain broad-form extended coverage property damage insurance 
with respect to all Equipment in an amount equal to the actual cash value of the equipment.  Such 
property damage insurance shall include BB&T as loss payee.  The Governmental Entity shall 
provide evidence of such coverage to BB&T promptly upon installation of the Equipment.  Any 
Net Proceeds of the insurance required by this subsection (a) shall be payable as provided in 
Section 5.15. 
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity shall, at its own expense, acquire, carry and maintain 
comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile liability insurance, as applicable, in an 
amount not less than $1,000,000 for personal injury or death and $1,000,000 for property damage. 
 
 (c) The Governmental Entity shall also maintain workers’ compensation insurance 
issued by a responsible carrier authorized under State law to insure the Governmental Entity against 
liability for compensation under applicable State law as in effect from time to time. 
 
 (d) All insurance shall be maintained with generally recognized responsible insurers and 
may carry reasonable deductible or risk-retention amounts.  All such policies shall be deposited 
with BB&T, provided that in lieu of such policies there may be deposited with BB&T a certificate 
or certificates of the respective insurers attesting the fact that the insurance required by this Section 
is in full force and effect.  Prior to the expiration of any such policy, the Governmental Entity shall 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



furnish BB&T evidence satisfactory to BB&T that the policy has been renewed or replaced or is no 
longer required by this Agreement.   
 
 (e) No Governmental Entity agent or employee shall have the power to adjust or settle 
any property damage loss greater than $50,000 with respect to the Equipment, whether or not 
covered by insurance, without BB&T’s prior written consent. 
 
 (f) BB&T shall not be responsible for the sufficiency or adequacy of any required 
insurance and shall be fully protected in accepting payment on account of such insurance or any 
adjustment, compromise or settlement of any loss agreed to by BB&T. 
 
 (g) The Governmental Entity shall deliver to BB&T annually by September 30 of each 
year a certificate stating that the risk coverages required by this Agreement are in effect, and stating 
the carriers, policy numbers, coverage limits and deductible or risk-retention amounts for all such 
coverages. 

ARTICLE V 
 

THE EQUIPMENT 
 
 5.01. Acquisition and Installation.  The Governmental Entity shall comply with the 
provisions of Title 39 of the Code of Alabama (1975) or Chapter 16 of Title 41 of the Code of 
Alabama (1975), accept all portions of the Equipment when properly delivered, provide for the 
proper installation thereof and thereafter promptly place each such portion in service.   
 
 5.02. Changes in Location.  The Governmental Entity shall promptly inform BB&T if 
any component of the Equipment shall be moved from the location designated for such 
Equipment at the time of its acquisition.   
 
 5.03. Acquisition and Installation within Funds Available.  The Governmental Entity 
represents that, based upon its examination of the plans and specifications for the Equipment, 
estimated installation costs and the Equipment’s anticipated configuration, the Equipment can be 
acquired and installed for a total price within the total amount of funds to be available therefor in 
the Project Fund, income anticipated to be derived from the investment thereof and other funds 
previously identified and designated for such purposes.  If the total amount available for such 
purposes in the Project Fund shall be insufficient to pay the entire cost of acquiring and installing 
the Equipment, the Governmental Entity promises to pay any such excess costs, with no resulting 
reduction or offset in the amounts otherwise payable by the Governmental Entity under this 
Agreement.   
 
 5.04. Disclaimer of Warranties.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity agrees that BB&T has not designed the Equipment, that 
BB&T has not supplied any plans or specifications with respect thereto and that BB&T (a) is not a 
manufacturer of, nor a dealer in, any of the component parts of the Equipment or similar 
Equipment, (b) has not made any recommendation, given any advice nor taken any other action 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



with respect to (i) the choice of any supplier, vendor or designer of, or any other contractor with 
respect to, the Equipment or any component part thereof or any property or rights relating thereto, 
or (ii) any action taken or to be taken with respect to the Equipment or any component part thereof 
or any property or rights relating thereto at any stage of the acquisition, installation and equipping 
thereof, (c) has not at any time had physical possession of the Equipment or any component part 
thereof or made any inspection thereof or of any property or rights relating thereto, and (d) has not 
made any warranty or other representation, express or implied, that the Equipment or any 
component part thereof or any property or rights relating thereto (i) will not result in or cause injury 
or damage to persons or property, (ii) has been or will be properly designed, or will accomplish the 
results which the Governmental Entity intends therefor, or (iii) is safe in any manner or respect. 
 
 (b) BB&T MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OR 
REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT 
OR ANY COMPONENT PART THEREOF, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY 
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WITH RESPECT TO THE MERCHANTABILITY OR 
THE FITNESS OR SUITABILITY THEREOF FOR ANY PURPOSE, and further including the 
design or condition thereof; the safety, quality or capacity thereof; compliance thereof with the 
requirements of any law, rule, specification or contract pertaining thereto; any latent defect; the 
Equipment’s ability to perform any function; that the Amount Advanced will be sufficient to pay all 
costs of the acquisition and installation of the Equipment; or any other characteristic of the 
Equipment; it being agreed that the Governmental Entity is to bear all risks relating to the 
Equipment, the installation thereof and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and the 
Governmental Entity hereby waives the benefits of any and all implied warranties and 
representations of BB&T. 
 
 (c) The provisions of this Section shall survive the Agreement’s termination. 
 
 5.05. Right of Entry and Inspection.   
 
 (a) BB&T and its representatives and agents shall have the right to enter upon the 
Governmental Entity’s property and inspect the Equipment from time to time during installation 
and after the completion of installation, and the Governmental Entity shall cause any vendor, 
contractor or sub-contractor to cooperate with BB&T and its representatives and agents during such 
inspections. 
 
 (b) No right of inspection or approval granted in this Section shall be deemed to impose 
upon BB&T any duty or obligation whatsoever to undertake any inspection or to make any 
approval.  No inspection made or approval given by BB&T shall be deemed to impose upon BB&T 
any duty or obligation whatsoever to identify or correct any defects in the Equipment or to notify 
any person with respect thereto, and no liability shall be imposed upon BB&T, and no warranties 
(either express or implied) are made by BB&T as to the quality or fitness of any improvement, any 
such inspection and approval being made solely for BB&T’s benefit. 
 
 5.06. Compliance with Requirements.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity shall cause the Equipment to be installed in a careful 
manner and in compliance with all applicable legal requirements.   

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 (b) The Governmental Entity shall observe and comply promptly with all current and 
future requirements relating to the Equipment’s use or condition imposed by (i) any judicial, 
governmental or regulatory body having jurisdiction over the Equipment or any portion thereof or 
(ii) any insurance company writing a policy covering the Equipment or any portion thereof, whether 
or not any such requirement shall necessitate structural changes or improvements or interfere with 
the use or enjoyment of the Equipment. 
 
 (c) The Governmental Entity shall obtain and maintain in effect all licenses and permits 
required for the Equipment’s operation. 
 
 (d) The Governmental Entity shall in no event use the Equipment or any part thereof, 
nor allow the same to be used, for any unlawful purpose, or suffer any act to be done or any 
condition to exist with respect to the Equipment or any part thereof, nor any article to be brought 
thereon, which may be dangerous, unless safeguarded as required by law, or which may, in law, 
constitute a nuisance, public or private, or which may make void or voidable any insurance then in 
force with respect thereto. 
 
 5.07. Use and Operation.  The Governmental Entity shall use and operate the Equipment 
and related property as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, and for no other purpose unless required by 
law.  The Governmental Entity shall be solely responsible for the Equipment’s operation, and shall 
not contract with any other person or entity for the Equipment’s operation.   
 
 5.08. Maintenance and Repairs; Additions.  (a) The Governmental Entity shall keep 
the Equipment in good order and repair (reasonable wear and tear excepted) and in good operating 
condition, shall not commit or permit any waste or any other thing to occur whereby the value or 
usefulness of the Equipment might be impaired, and shall make from time to time all necessary or 
appropriate repairs, replacements and renewals. 
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity may, also at its own expense, make from time to time any 
additions, modifications or improvements to the Equipment that it may deem desirable for its 
governmental or proprietary purposes and that do not materially impair the effective use, nor 
materially decrease the value or substantially alter the intended use, of the Equipment.  The 
Governmental Entity shall do, or cause to be done, all such things as may be required by law in 
order fully to protect the security of and all BB&T’s rights under this Agreement.   
 
 (c) Any and all additions to or replacements of the Equipment and all parts thereof shall 
constitute accessions to the Equipment and shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement and included in the “Equipment” for the purposes of this Agreement. 
 
 (d) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (c) above, however, the Governmental 
Entity may, from time to time in its sole discretion and at its own expense, install machinery, 
equipment and other tangible property in or on the Equipment.  All such property shall remain the 
Governmental Entity’s sole property in which BB&T shall have no interest; provided, however, that 
any such property which becomes permanently affixed to the Equipment shall be subject to the lien 
and security interest arising under this Agreement if BB&T shall reasonably determine that the 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Equipment would be damaged or impaired by the removal of such machinery, equipment or other 
tangible property. 
 
 5.09. Security.  The Governmental Entity shall take all reasonable steps necessary to 
safeguard the Equipment against theft.  The security afforded the Equipment shall at all times be 
equal to or better than the security afforded the Governmental Entity’s personal property that is not 
subject to this Agreement. 
 
 5.10. Utilities.  The Governmental Entity shall pay all charges for utility services 
furnished to or used on or in connection with the Equipment.   
 
 5.11. Risk of Loss.  The Governmental Entity shall bear all risk of loss to and 
condemnation of the Equipment. 
 
 5.12. Condemnation.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity shall immediately notify BB&T if any governmental 
authority shall institute, or shall notify the Governmental Entity of any intent to institute, any action 
or proceeding for the taking of, or damages to, all or any part of the Equipment or any interest 
therein under the power of eminent domain, or if there shall be any damage to the Equipment due to 
governmental action, but not resulting in a taking of any portion of the Equipment.  The 
Governmental Entity shall file and prosecute its claims for any such awards or payments in good 
faith and with due diligence and cause the same to be collected and paid over to BB&T, and to the 
extent permitted by law hereby irrevocably authorizes and empowers BB&T, in the Governmental 
Entity’s name or otherwise, to collect and receipt for any such award or payment and to file and 
prosecute such claims.  If the Governmental Entity receives any Net Proceeds arising from any such 
action, the Governmental Entity shall apply such Net Proceeds as provided in Section 5.15. 
 
 (b) If any of the real or personal property acquired or improved by the Governmental 
Entity (in whole or in part) using any portion of the Amount Advanced consists of or is located on 
any real property acquired by the Governmental Entity through the exercise of the power of eminent 
domain, or through the threat of the exercise of the power of eminent domain, then during the term 
of this Agreement the Governmental Entity may not transfer any interest in such real property to 
any entity other than a local governmental unit without BB&T’s prior express written consent. 
 
 5.13. Title.  Title to the Equipment and any and all additions, repairs, replacements or 
modifications thereto shall at all times be in the Governmental Entity, subject to the lien of this 
Agreement.  Upon the Governmental Entity’s payment in full of all Required Payments, BB&T, at 
the Governmental Entity’s expense and request, shall cancel this Agreement. 
 
 5.14. No Encumbrance, Mortgage or Pledge of Equipment. 
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity shall not directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or 
suffer to exist any mortgage, pledge, lien (including mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens), charge, 
encumbrance or other claim in the nature of a lien on or with respect to the Equipment.  The 
Governmental Entity shall promptly, at its own expense, take such action as may be duly necessary 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



to discharge any such mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or claim not excepted above 
which it shall have created, incurred or suffered to exist.   
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity shall reimburse BB&T for any expense incurred by 
BB&T to discharge or remove any such mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest, encumbrance or 
claim, with interest thereon at the Prime Rate.   
 
 5.15. Damage and Destruction; Use of Net Proceeds.  (a) The Governmental Entity 
shall promptly notify BB&T if (i) the Security Property or any portion thereof is stolen or is 
destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, (ii) a material defect in the installation of the 
Equipment shall become apparent, or (iii) title to or the use of all or any portion of the Equipment 
shall be lost by reason of a defect in title.  Each notice shall describe generally the nature and extent 
of such damage, destruction or taking. 
 
 (b) If the Net Proceeds arising from any single event, or any single substantially related 
sequence of events, is not more than $50,000, the Governmental Entity shall retain such Net 
Proceeds and apply the same to the prompt completion, repair or restoration of the Equipment, and 
shall promptly thereafter report to BB&T regarding the use of such Net Proceeds. 
 
 (c) If the Net Proceeds arising from any single event, or any single substantially related 
sequence of events, is more than $50,000, then the Governmental Entity shall cause such Net 
Proceeds to be paid to an escrow agent (which shall be a bank, trust company or similar entity 
exercising fiduciary responsibilities) or deposit in a special escrow fund to be held by such escrow 
agent.  The Governmental Entity shall thereafter provide for the application of all Net Proceeds to 
the prompt completion, repair or restoration of the Equipment, as the case may be.  The escrow 
agent shall disburse Net Proceeds for the payment of such costs upon receipt of requisitions in 
substantially the form of Exhibit A to the Project Fund Agreement.  If the Net Proceeds shall be 
insufficient to pay in full the cost of completion, repair or restoration, the Governmental Entity shall 
either (i) complete the work and pay any cost in excess of the Net Proceeds, or (ii) not carry out 
such completion, repair or restoration, and instead apply the Net Proceeds, together with other 
available funds as may be necessary, to the prepayment of all outstanding Required Payments 
pursuant to Section 3.03. 
 
 (d) Any repair, restoration, modification, improvement or replacement paid for in whole 
or in part out of Net Proceeds shall be the Governmental Entity’s property and shall be part of the 
Equipment.   

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES; EXECUTION 
 
 6.01. Events of Default.  An “Event of Default” is any of the following: 
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity’s failing to make any Installment Payment when due. 
 
 (b) The occurrence of an Event of Nonappropriation. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 (c) The Governmental Entity’s breaching or failing to perform or observe any term, 
condition or covenant of this Agreement or of the Project Fund Agreement on its part to be 
observed or performed, other than as provided in subsections (a) or (b) above, including payment of 
any Additional Payment, for a period of 15 days after written notice specifying such failure and 
requesting that it be remedied shall have been given to the Governmental Entity by BB&T, unless 
BB&T shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration. 
 
 (d) The institution of proceedings under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or 
similar law by or against the Governmental Entity as a debtor, or the appointment of a receiver, 
custodian or similar officer for the Governmental Entity or any of its property, and the failure of 
such proceedings or appointments to be vacated or fully stayed within 30 days after the institution 
or occurrence thereof. 
 
 (e) Any warranty, representation or statement made by the Governmental Entity in this 
Agreement or the Project Fund Agreement is found to be incorrect or misleading in any material 
respect on the Closing Date (or, if later, on the date made). 
 
 (f) Any lien, charge or encumbrance prior to the security interest created under Section 
2.03, or affecting the validity of this Agreement, is found to exist, or proceedings are instituted 
against the Governmental Entity to enforce any lien, charge or encumbrance against the Equipment 
and such lien, charge or encumbrance would be prior to the lien of this Agreement. 
 
 (g) The Governmental Entity’s failing to pay when due any principal of or interest on 
any of its indebtedness that constitutes an obligation, debt, or charge against the credit or taxing 
power of the Governmental Entity. 
 
 6.02. Remedies on Default.  Upon the continuation of any Event of Default, BB&T may, 
without any further demand or notice, exercise any one or more of the following remedies: 
 
 (a) Declare the unpaid principal components of the Installment Payments immediately 
due and payable; 
 
 (b) Proceed by appropriate court action to enforce the Governmental Entity’s 
performance of the applicable covenants of this Agreement or to recover for the breach thereof; 
 
 (c) As provided in the Project Fund Agreement, require BB&T to pay over any balance 
remaining in the Project Fund to be applied against outstanding Required Payments in any manner 
BB&T may reasonably deem appropriate; and 
 
 (d) Avail itself of all available remedies under this Agreement, including execution as 
provided in Section 6.03, and recovery of attorneys’ fees and other expenses. 
 
 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Governmental Entity and 
BB&T intend to comply with the Alabama Governmental Leasing Act.  No deficiency judgment 
may be entered against the Governmental Entity in violation of the Alabama Governmental Leasing 
Act.   

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 6.03. Execution on Personal Property.  Upon the continuation of any Event of Default 
and in addition to all other remedies granted in this Agreement, BB&T shall have all the rights and 
remedies of a secured party under the UCC and may proceed to execute upon the Security Property.  
 
 6.04. Possession of Equipment.   
 
 (a) After a foreclosure sale, the Governmental Entity shall immediately lose the right to 
possess, use and enjoy the Equipment (but may remain in possession of the Equipment as a lessee 
at will of BB&T), and thereupon the Governmental Entity (a) shall pay monthly in advance to 
BB&T a fair and reasonable rental value for the use and possession of the Equipment (in an amount 
BB&T shall determine in its reasonable judgment), and (b) upon BB&T’s demand, shall deliver 
possession of the Equipment to BB&T or, at BB&T’s direction, to any purchaser of the Equipment 
after an execution sale.   
 
 (b) In addition, upon the continuation of any Event of Default, BB&T, to the extent 
permitted by law, is hereby authorized to (i) take possession of the Equipment, with or without legal 
action, (ii) lease the Equipment, (iii) collect all rents and profits therefrom, with or without taking 
possession of the Equipment, and (iv) after deducting all costs of collection and administration 
expenses, apply the net rents and profits first to the payment of necessary maintenance and 
insurance costs, and then to the Governmental Entity’s account and in reduction of the 
Governmental Entity’s corresponding Required Payments in such fashion as BB&T shall 
reasonably deem appropriate.  BB&T shall be liable to account only for rents and profits it actually 
receives. 
 
 6.05. No Remedy Exclusive; Delay Not Waiver.  All remedies under this Agreement are 
cumulative and may be exercised concurrently or separately.  The exercise of any one remedy shall 
not be deemed an election of such remedy or preclude the exercise of any other remedy.  If any 
Event of Default shall occur and thereafter be waived by BB&T, such waiver shall be limited to the 
particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed a waiver of any other breach under this 
Agreement. 
 
 6.06. Payment of Costs and Attorney’s Fees.  If BB&T employs an attorney to assist in 
the enforcement or collection of Required Payments, or if BB&T voluntarily or otherwise shall 
become a party to any suit or legal proceeding (including a proceeding conducted under any state or 
federal bankruptcy or insolvency statute) to protect the Equipment, to protect the lien of this 
Agreement, to enforce collection of the Required Payments or to enforce compliance by the 
Governmental Entity with any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Governmental Entity agrees 
to pay reasonable attorneys’ fees and all of the costs that may reasonably be incurred (whether or 
not any suit or proceeding is commenced), and such fees and costs (together with interest at the 
Prime Rate) shall be secured as Required Payments.   

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 7.01. Notices.   
 
 (a) Any communication required or permitted by this Agreement must be in writing. 
 
 (b) Any communication under this Agreement shall be sufficiently given and deemed 
given when delivered by hand or five days after being mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, 
addressed as follows: 
 

(i) If to the Governmental Entity, to 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama 35216, Attention: Finance Officer; or 
 
(ii) If to BB&T, to BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 Parkway Plaza 
Boulevard, Charlotte, North Carolina  28217. 

 
 (c) Any addressee may designate additional or different addresses for communications 
by notice given under this Section to each of the others. 
 
 7.02. No Assignments by Governmental Entity.   The Governmental Entity shall not 
sell or assign any interest in this Agreement. 
 
 7.03. Assignments by BB&T. 
 
 (a) BB&T may, at any time and from time to time, assign all or any part of its interest in 
the Security Property or this Agreement, including, without limitation, BB&T’s rights to receive 
Required Payments.  Any assignment made by BB&T or any subsequent assignee shall not purport 
to convey any greater interest or rights than those held by BB&T pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 (b) The Governmental Entity agrees that this Agreement may become part of a pool of 
obligations at BB&T’s or its assignee’s option.  BB&T or its assignees may assign or reassign all or 
any part of this Agreement, including the assignment or reassignment of any partial interest through 
the use of certificates evidencing participation interests in this Agreement.  Any assignment by 
BB&T may be only to a bank, insurance company, or similar financial institution or any other entity 
permitted under Alabama law.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no assignment or reassignment of 
BB&T’s interest in the Equipment or this Agreement shall be effective unless and until the 
Governmental Entity shall receive a duplicate original counterpart of the document by which such 
assignment or reassignment is made disclosing the name and address of each such assignee.   
 
 (c) The Governmental Entity further agrees that BB&T’s interest in this Agreement 
may be assigned in whole or in part upon terms which provide in effect that the assignor or assignee 
will act as a collection and paying agent for any holders of certificates of participation in this 
Agreement, provided the Governmental Entity receives a copy of such agency contract and such 
collection and paying agent covenants and agrees to maintain for the full remaining term of this 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Agreement a written record of each assignment and reassignment of such certificates of 
participation.   
 
 (d) The Governmental Entity agrees to execute any document reasonably required in 
connection with any assignment.  Any assignor must provide notice of any assignment to the 
Governmental Entity, and the Governmental Entity shall keep a complete and accurate record of all 
assignments as required by the Code.  After the giving of any such notice, the Governmental Entity 
shall thereafter make all payments in accordance with the notice to the assignee named therein and 
shall, if so requested, acknowledge such assignment in writing, but such acknowledgment shall in 
no way be deemed necessary to make the assignment effective. 
 
 7.04. Amendments.  No term or provision of this Agreement may be amended, modified 
or waived without the prior written consent of the Governmental Entity and BB&T.   
 
 7.05. Governing Law.  The Governmental Entity and BB&T intend that State law shall 
govern this Agreement. 
 
 7.06. Liability of Officers and Agents.  No officer, agent or employee of the 
Governmental Entity shall be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
execution of this Agreement or any other documents related to the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.  Such officers or agents shall be deemed to execute such documents in their official 
capacities only, and not in their individual capacities.  This Section shall not relieve an officer, 
agent or employee of the Governmental Entity from the performance of any official duty provided 
by law. 
 
 7.07. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be 
unenforceable, that shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement. 
 
 7.08. Non-Business Days.  If the date for making any payment or the last day for 
performance of any act or the exercising of any right shall not be a Business Day, such payment 
shall be made or act performed or right exercised on or before the next preceding Business Day. 
 
 7.09. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the Governmental Entity’s entire 
agreement with respect to the general subject matter covered by this Agreement. 
 
 7.10. Binding Effect.  Subject to the specific provisions of this Agreement, and in 
particular Section 7.03, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly signed, sealed and delivered this 
Agreement by duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written. 
 
(SEAL) 
 

 

ATTEST: CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 

By: ________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ____________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________ 
 
 

By: ________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ____________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________ 
 
 

 BRANCH BANKING AND  
TRUST COMPANY 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ____________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Financing Agreement between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Branch Banking and Trust Company] 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
EXHIBIT A  --  PROJECT AND EQUIPMENT DESCRIPTION  

 
 
As to Contract 9901000872-00003: 
 
Various vehicles.  It is anticipated that those vehicles will be comprised of the following or 
similar vehicles: 
Information Technology Services Dept.: 

Ford Explorer; 
 
Police Department: 

Patrol vehicles – Tahoes & installed equipment; 
Admin Ford Truck – F-150 4x4; 
Detective – Ford Taurus 
Motorcycle with installed equipment; 

 
Fire Department: 

staff vehicle; 
 
Bldg. Safety/Inspection Department: 

 vehicle/SUV 
 

Public Services Department: 
 Senior Transportation vehicle; 
 Jeep/SUV; 
 Engineer – Explorer 4x4 
 
 
As to Contract 9901000872-00004: 
 
Fire Department: 

Remount/Rescue Transport Truck 
 
 
As to Contract 9901000872-00005: 
 
Public Services Department: 
 Work Truck – Ford F-450 
 
 
 
 
All as may be more particularly described in documentation submitted by the City with 
requisitions pursuant to the Project Fund Agreements.

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
EXHIBIT B-1 -- PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

(Various Vehicles) 
 

 
Payment Schedule to Financing Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016 (the “Financing 
Agreement”), between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Branch Banking and Trust 
Company  
 
 
 Contract Number:  99010000872-00003 
 
 
 The payments required to repay the advance made pursuant to the Financing Agreement 
call for an amortization period of approximately three (3) years.  Payments are quarterly in 
arrears in the amount of $43,499.22.  A portion of each payment is paid as and represents 
payment of interest at an annual interest rate of 1.33%. 
 
 Payments are due beginning on November ___, 2016, and quarterly thereafter, with a 
final payment of all outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest due on August ___, 
2019, all as set forth in the attached amortization schedule. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



City of Vestavia Hills, AL 
Various vehicles 
Contract Number 9901000872-00003 
 
DRAFT AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE – TO BE UPDATED TO REFLECT FUNDING DATE 
 
Compound Period:  Quarterly 
 
Nominal Annual Rate:  1.330 % 
 
CASH FLOW DATA 
 
  Event Date Amount Number Period End Date 
1 Loan 08/11/2016 510,882.00 1   
2 Payment 11/11/2016 43,499.22 12 Quarterly 08/11/2019 
       
 
AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE - Normal Amortization, 360 Day Year 
 

   Date Payment Interest Principal Balance 
Loan 08/11/2016       510,882.00 

2016 Totals   0.00 0.00 0.00  
          

1 11/11/2016 43,499.22 1,698.68 41,800.54 469,081.46 
2 02/11/2017 43,499.22 1,559.70 41,939.52 427,141.94 
3 05/11/2017 43,499.22 1,420.25 42,078.97 385,062.97 
4 08/11/2017 43,499.22 1,280.33 42,218.89 342,844.08 

2017 Totals   173,996.88 5,958.96 168,037.92  
          

5 11/11/2017 43,499.22 1,139.96 42,359.26 300,484.82 
6 02/11/2018 43,499.22 999.11 42,500.11 257,984.71 
7 05/11/2018 43,499.22 857.80 42,641.42 215,343.29 
8 08/11/2018 43,499.22 716.02 42,783.20 172,560.09 

2018 Totals   173,996.88 3,712.89 170,283.99  
          

9 11/11/2018 43,499.22 573.76 42,925.46 129,634.63 
10 02/11/2019 43,499.22 431.04 43,068.18 86,566.45 
11 05/11/2019 43,499.22 287.83 43,211.39 43,355.06 
12 08/11/2019 43,499.22 144.16 43,355.06 0.00 

2019 Totals   173,996.88 1,436.79 172,560.09  
          

Grand Totals   521,990.64 11,108.64 510,882.00  
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



EXHIBIT B-2 -- PAYMENT SCHEDULE 
(Remount Rescue Transport Truck) 

 
 
Payment Schedule to Financing Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016 (the “Financing 
Agreement”), between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Branch Banking and Trust 
Company  
 
 
 Contract Number:  99010000872-00004 
 
 
 The payments required to repay the advance made pursuant to the Financing Agreement 
call for an amortization period of approximately seven (7) years.  Payments are quarterly in 
arrears in the amount of $6,246.49.  A portion of each payment is paid as and represents payment 
of interest at an annual interest rate of 1.66%. 
 
 Payments are due beginning on November ___, 2016, and quarterly thereafter, with a 
final payment of all outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest due on August ___, 
2023, all as set forth in the attached amortization schedule. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



City of Vestavia Hills, AL 
Remount Rescue Transport Truck 
Contract Number 9901000872-00004 
 
DRAFT AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE – TO BE UPDATED TO REFLECT FUNDING DATE 
 
Compound Period:  Quarterly 
 
Nominal Annual Rate:  1.660 % 
 
CASH FLOW DATA 
 
  Event Date Amount Number Period End Date 
1 Loan 08/11/2016 164,800.00 1   
2 Payment 11/11/2016 6,246.49 28 Quarterly 08/11/2023 
       
 
AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE - Normal Amortization, 360 Day Year 
 

   Date Payment Interest Principal Balance 
Loan 08/11/2016       164,800.00 

2016 Totals   0.00 0.00 0.00  
          

1 11/11/2016 6,246.49 683.92 5,562.57 159,237.43 
2 02/11/2017 6,246.49 660.84 5,585.65 153,651.78 
3 05/11/2017 6,246.49 637.65 5,608.84 148,042.94 
4 08/11/2017 6,246.49 614.38 5,632.11 142,410.83 

2017 Totals   24,985.96 2,596.79 22,389.17  
          

5 11/11/2017 6,246.49 591.00 5,655.49 136,755.34 
6 02/11/2018 6,246.49 567.53 5,678.96 131,076.38 
7 05/11/2018 6,246.49 543.97 5,702.52 125,373.86 
8 08/11/2018 6,246.49 520.30 5,726.19 119,647.67 

2018 Totals   24,985.96 2,222.80 22,763.16  
          

9 11/11/2018 6,246.49 496.54 5,749.95 113,897.72 
10 02/11/2019 6,246.49 472.68 5,773.81 108,123.91 
11 05/11/2019 6,246.49 448.71 5,797.78 102,326.13 
12 08/11/2019 6,246.49 424.65 5,821.84 96,504.29 

2019 Totals   24,985.96 1,842.58 23,143.38  
          

13 11/11/2019 6,246.49 400.49 5,846.00 90,658.29 
14 02/11/2020 6,246.49 376.23 5,870.26 84,788.03 
15 05/11/2020 6,246.49 351.87 5,894.62 78,893.41 
16 08/11/2020 6,246.49 327.41 5,919.08 72,974.33 

2020 Totals   24,985.96 1,456.00 23,529.96  
          

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



17 11/11/2020 6,246.49 302.84 5,943.65 67,030.68 
18 02/11/2021 6,246.49 278.18 5,968.31 61,062.37 
19 05/11/2021 6,246.49 253.41 5,993.08 55,069.29 
20 08/11/2021 6,246.49 228.54 6,017.95 49,051.34 

2021 Totals   24,985.96 1,062.97 23,922.99  
          

21 11/11/2021 6,246.49 203.56 6,042.93 43,008.41 
22 02/11/2022 6,246.49 178.48 6,068.01 36,940.40 
23 05/11/2022 6,246.49 153.30 6,093.19 30,847.21 
24 08/11/2022 6,246.49 128.02 6,118.47 24,728.74 

2022 Totals   24,985.96 663.36 24,322.60  
          

25 11/11/2022 6,246.49 102.62 6,143.87 18,584.87 
26 02/11/2023 6,246.49 77.13 6,169.36 12,415.51 
27 05/11/2023 6,246.49 51.52 6,194.97 6,220.54 
28 08/11/2023 6,246.49 25.95 6,220.54 0.00 

2023 Totals   24,985.96 257.22 24,728.74  
          

Grand Totals   174,901.72 10,101.72 164,800.00  
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



EXHIBIT B-3 -- PAYMENT SCHEDULE 
 

 
Payment Schedule to Financing Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016 (the “Financing 
Agreement”), between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Branch Banking and Trust 
Company  
 
 
 Contract Number:  99010000872-00005 
 
 
 The payments required to repay the advance made pursuant to the Financing Agreement 
call for an amortization period of approximately five (5) years.  Payments are quarterly in arrears 
in the amount of $2,858.83.  A portion of each payment is paid as and represents payment of 
interest at an annual interest rate of 1.49%. 
 
 Payments are due beginning on November ___, 2016, and quarterly thereafter, with a 
final payment of all outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest due on August ___, 
2021, all as set forth in the attached amortization schedule. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



City of Vestavia Hills, AL 
Ford F-450 truck 
Contract Number 9901000872-00004 
 
DRAFT AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE – TO BE UPDATED TO REFLECT FUNDING DATE 
 
Compound Period:  Quarterly 
 
Nominal Annual Rate:  1.490 % 
 
CASH FLOW DATA 
 
  Event Date Amount Number Period End Date 
1 Loan 08/11/2016 55,000.00 1   
2 Payment 11/11/2016 2,858.83 20 Quarterly 08/11/2021 
       
 
AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE - Normal Amortization, 360 Day Year 
 

   Date Payment Interest Principal Balance 
Loan 08/11/2016       55,000.00 

2016 Totals   0.00 0.00 0.00  
          

1 11/11/2016 2,858.83 204.88 2,653.95 52,346.05 
2 02/11/2017 2,858.83 194.99 2,663.84 49,682.21 
3 05/11/2017 2,858.83 185.07 2,673.76 47,008.45 
4 08/11/2017 2,858.83 175.11 2,683.72 44,324.73 

2017 Totals   11,435.32 760.05 10,675.27  
          

5 11/11/2017 2,858.83 165.11 2,693.72 41,631.01 
6 02/11/2018 2,858.83 155.08 2,703.75 38,927.26 
7 05/11/2018 2,858.83 145.00 2,713.83 36,213.43 
8 08/11/2018 2,858.83 134.90 2,723.93 33,489.50 

2018 Totals   11,435.32 600.09 10,835.23  
          

9 11/11/2018 2,858.83 124.75 2,734.08 30,755.42 
10 02/11/2019 2,858.83 114.56 2,744.27 28,011.15 
11 05/11/2019 2,858.83 104.34 2,754.49 25,256.66 
12 08/11/2019 2,858.83 94.08 2,764.75 22,491.91 

2019 Totals   11,435.32 437.73 10,997.59  
          

13 11/11/2019 2,858.83 83.78 2,775.05 19,716.86 
14 02/11/2020 2,858.83 73.45 2,785.38 16,931.48 
15 05/11/2020 2,858.83 63.07 2,795.76 14,135.72 
16 08/11/2020 2,858.83 52.66 2,806.17 11,329.55 

2020 Totals   11,435.32 272.96 11,162.36  
          

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



17 11/11/2020 2,858.83 42.20 2,816.63 8,512.92 
18 02/11/2021 2,858.83 31.71 2,827.12 5,685.80 
19 05/11/2021 2,858.83 21.18 2,837.65 2,848.15 
20 08/11/2021 2,858.83 10.68 2,848.15 0.00 

2021 Totals   11,435.32 105.77 11,329.55  
          

Grand Totals   57,176.60 2,176.60 55,000.00  
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 

PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT  
(various vehicles) 

 
 THIS PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT is dated as of August ___, 2016, and is by and 
between the CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a public body of the State of Alabama (the 
“Governmental Entity”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY (“BB&T”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 The Governmental Entity is, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement, executing and delivering a Financing Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016 (the “Financing Agreement”), by and between the Governmental Entity and BB&T.  
The purpose of the Financing Agreement is to provide for BB&T’s advance of $510,882.00 to 
the Governmental Entity to finance the Governmental Entity’s acquisition of equipment, as 
defined in the Financing Agreement.  In partial consideration for BB&T’s entering into the 
Financing Agreement, the Governmental Entity has agreed to provide for financing proceeds to 
be deposited and disbursed pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 
 
 In this Project Fund Agreement, the term “Project Costs” means all costs of the design, 
planning, acquiring, installing of the Equipment as determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and that will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes of the designated interest component of Installment Payments 
payable by the Governmental Entity under the Financing Agreement, including (a) sums required 
to reimburse the Governmental Entity or its agents for advances made for any such costs, (b) 
interest during the installation process and for up to six months thereafter, and (c) all costs 
related to the financing of the Equipment through the Financing Agreement and all related 
transactions. 
 
 In addition, any capitalized terms used in this Project Fund Agreement and not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Financing Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2. PROJECT FUND. 
 
 2.1. Project Fund.  On the Closing Date, BB&T will deposit $510,882.00 into a 
special account of the Governmental Entity at Branch Banking and Trust Company to be 
designated “2016-00003 City of Vestavia Hills Project Fund” (the “Project Fund”).  This account 
shall be held separate and apart from all other funds of the Governmental Entity.  The Project 
Fund is the Governmental Entity’s property, but the Governmental Entity will withdraw amounts 
on deposit in the Project Fund only as provided in the Project Fund Agreement and only for 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



application from time to time to the payment of Project Costs.  Pending such application, such 
amounts shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of BB&T to secure the Governmental 
Entity’s obligations under the Financing Agreement. 
 
 2.2. Requisitions from Project Fund. The City may withdraw funds from the Project 
Fund only after authorization from BB&T.  BB&T will disburse funds from the Project Fund 
only to the City and only upon its receipt of written requisitions from one of the designated City 
Representatives named in the Certificate of Authorized Representatives contained herein and 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto. 
  
 2.3. Disposition of Project Fund Balance.   
 
 (a) Upon completion -- Promptly after the acquisition and installation of the 
Equipment has been completed, the Governmental Entity shall deliver to BB&T a certificate to 
such effect signed by a Governmental Entity Representative. 
 
 (b) Upon default -- Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, BB&T may 
withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against outstanding 
Required Payments. 
 
 (c) After delay or inactivity -- If (i) more than two years have elapsed from the 
Closing Date or (ii) at least six months has passed from BB&T’s most recent receipt of a 
requisition for Project Costs, then BB&T, upon 30 days’ notice from BB&T to the Governmental 
Entity, may withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against 
outstanding Required Payments. 
 
   (d)        Application of Project Fund balance -- BB&T will apply any amounts paid to it 
pursuant to this section (i) first against all Additional Payments then due and payable, (ii) then to 
interest accrued and unpaid to the prepayment date, and (iii) then to the prepayment, in inverse 
order of maturity and without premium (notwithstanding any contrary provisions of Section 3.03 
of the Financing Agreement), of the outstanding principal components of Installment Payments. 
Such prepayment, however, will not affect any other City payment obligation under the 
Financing Agreement.  BB&T will notify the City of any withdrawal from the Project Fund made 
under this Section 2.3, and in the notice will describe its application of the funds withdrawn. 
  

2.4. Investment.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity and BB&T agree that money in the Project Fund will be 
continuously invested and reinvested in a public funds money rate savings account. 
 
 (b) From and after the date that is three years from the Closing Date, the 
Governmental Entity will not purchase or hold any investment which has a “yield,” as 
determined under the Code, in excess of the “yield” on the Governmental Entity’s obligations 
under the Financing Agreement, unless the Governmental Entity has supplied BB&T with a 
Bond Counsel Opinion to the effect that such investment will not adversely affect the exclusion 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



from gross income for federal income tax purposes to which the interest components of 
Installment Payments would otherwise be entitled.  
 
 (c) Investment obligations acquired with money in the Project Fund shall be deemed 
at all times to be part of the Project Fund.  The interest accruing thereon and any profit or loss 
realized upon the disposition or maturity of any such investment shall be credited to or charged 
against the Project Fund. 
 
 (d) All earnings on moneys in the Project Fund must be used for Project Costs. 
 
 SECTION 3. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
 3.1. Notices.  Any notice or other communication required or contemplated by this 
Project Fund Agreement shall be deemed to be delivered if in writing, addressed as provided 
below and if (a) actually received by such addressee, or (b) in the case of mailing, when indicated 
to have been delivered by a signed receipt returned by the United States Postal Service after 
deposit in the United States mails, postage and registry fees prepaid, and clearly directed to be 
transmitted as registered or certified mail: 
 

(i) If intended for the Governmental Entity, addressed to it at the following 
address:  City of Vestavia Hills, Attention: Finance Director, 1032 Montgomery 
Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216. 

 
(ii) If intended for BB&T, addressed to it at the following address:  BB&T 

Governmental Finance, Attention:  Account Administration/Municipal – Project Fund 
Agreement Notice, 5130 Parkway Plaza Boulevard, Charlotte, North Carolina  28217. 

 
Any party may designate a different or alternate address for notices by notice given under this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.2. Survival of Covenants and Representations.  All covenants, representations and 
warranties made by the Governmental Entity in this Project Fund Agreement and in any 
certificates delivered pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement shall survive the delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.3. Choice of Law.  The parties intend that Alabama law shall govern this Project 
Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.4. Amendments.  This Project Fund Agreement may not be modified or amended 
unless such amendment is in writing and signed by BB&T and the Governmental Entity. 
 
 3.5. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no parties intended to be or which shall 
be deemed to be third-party beneficiaries of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 3.6. Successors and Assigns.  All of the covenants and conditions of this Project Fund 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to this Project Fund 
Agreement and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 3.7. Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of 
this Project Fund Agreement invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.8. Counterparts.  This Project Fund Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, including separate counterparts, each executed counterpart constituting an original 
but all together only one agreement. 
 
 3.9. Termination.  Except as otherwise provided in this Project Fund Agreement, this 
Project Fund Agreement shall cease and terminate upon payment of all funds (including 
investment proceeds) from the Project Fund. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



CERTIFICATE DESIGNATING CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
 
 In accordance with the terms herein, the City designates the following persons as City 
Representatives authorized to sign requisitions to withdraw funds from the Project Fund account:  
 

Printed Name: 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 

Signature: 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 

 
 The City may designate additional Representatives to sign requisitions upon written 
notification to BB&T 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Project Fund Agreement to be 
signed and delivered by a duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above written. 
 
  
ATTEST:   CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

(SEAL) 
 

BRANCH BANKING AND  
TRUST COMPANY 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 

 
[Project Fund Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016]  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 
 

[To Be Prepared on Governmental Entity’s Letterhead for Submission] 
 

PROJECT FUND REQUISITION  
 
[Date]  ___________________ 
 
E-MAIL REQUISITIONS TO:  GFProjectfunds@bbandt.com 
 
Trina Britt                  direct dial:  704-954-1873    fax:  704-954-1799 
Project Specialist 
 

RE: Request for disbursement of funds from the Project Fund related to Contract No. 
9901000872-00003 with the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama dated August ___, 2016. 

 
Dear Ms. Britt, 
 
 Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Project Fund Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental Entity”), requests the 
disbursement of funds from the Project Fund established under the Project Fund Agreement for 
the following Project Costs: 
 
This is requisition number ____ from the Project Fund. 
 
Disbursements will be to the City of Vestavia Hills. 
 
Amount: $  
 
Attach the following to this requisition  

• Copies of vendor invoices; 
• copies of the certificates of origin listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 

Parkway Plaza Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder OR a copy of the lien 
recording application listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 Parkway Plaza 
Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder  

• Certificate of Insurance showing: 
o property coverage with BB&T Governmental Finance listed as loss payee 

and certificate holder; 
o year, make model and VIN number of vehicles; 
o loan contract number 99+01000872-00005. 

 
 
Project Description: various vehicles 
 
Location of Equipment: 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
To receive funds via wire transfer please include: 
 
ABA Routing Number: 
 
Account Number: 
 
Physical address of the Governmental Entity:   
 
 The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama makes this requisition pursuant to the following 
representations: 
 

1. The Governmental Entity has appropriated in its current fiscal year funds sufficient to pay 
the Installment Payments and estimated Additional Payments due in the current fiscal 
year. 

 
2. The purpose of this disbursement is for partial payment on the project provided for under 

the Contract referenced above.  
 

3. The requested disbursement has not been subject to any previous requisition. 
 

4. No notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to 
receive payment of, any of the moneys payable herein to any of the persons, firms or 
corporations named herein has been received, or if any notice of any such lien, attachment 
or claim has been received, such lien, attachment or claim has been released or discharged 
or will be released or discharged upon payment of this requisition. 

 
5. This requisition contains no items representing payment on account of any percentage 

entitled to be retained on the date of this requisition. 
 

6. No Event of Default is continuing under the Financing Agreement, and no event or 
condition is existing which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event 
of Default. 

 
7. The Governmental Entity will execute any Uniform Commercial Code financing 

statements with respect to this portion of the Equipment that BB&T may request to 
evidence its security interest.   

 
8. The Governmental Entity has in place insurance on this portion of the Equipment that 

complies with the insurance provisions of the above-referenced Contract. 
 

     Each amount requested for payment in this requisition either (a) represents reimbursement 
to the Governmental Entity for a Project Cost expenditure previously made, or (b) will be used 
by the Governmental Entity promptly upon the receipt of funds from BB&T to make the 
payments to third parties described in this requisition. 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



     Attached is evidence that the amounts shown in this requisition are properly payable at 
this time, such as bills, receipts, invoices, architects’ payment certifications or other appropriate 
documents. 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 

PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT  
(remount rescue transport truck) 

 
 THIS PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT is dated as of August ___, 2016, and is by and 
between the CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a public body of the State of Alabama (the 
“Governmental Entity”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY (“BB&T”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 The Governmental Entity is, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement, executing and delivering a Financing Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016 (the “Financing Agreement”), by and between the Governmental Entity and BB&T.  
The purpose of the Financing Agreement is to provide for BB&T’s advance of $164,800.00 to 
the Governmental Entity to finance the Governmental Entity’s acquisition of equipment, as 
defined in the Financing Agreement.  In partial consideration for BB&T’s entering into the 
Financing Agreement, the Governmental Entity has agreed to provide for financing proceeds to 
be deposited and disbursed pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 
 
 In this Project Fund Agreement, the term “Project Costs” means all costs of the design, 
planning, acquiring, installing of the Equipment as determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and that will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes of the designated interest component of Installment Payments 
payable by the Governmental Entity under the Financing Agreement, including (a) sums required 
to reimburse the Governmental Entity or its agents for advances made for any such costs, (b) 
interest during the installation process and for up to six months thereafter, and (c) all costs 
related to the financing of the Equipment through the Financing Agreement and all related 
transactions. 
 
 In addition, any capitalized terms used in this Project Fund Agreement and not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Financing Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2. PROJECT FUND. 
 
 2.1. Project Fund.  On the Closing Date, BB&T will deposit $164,800.00 into a 
special account of the Governmental Entity at Branch Banking and Trust Company to be 
designated “2016-00004 City of Vestavia Hills Project Fund” (the “Project Fund”).  This account 
shall be held separate and apart from all other funds of the Governmental Entity.  The Project 
Fund is the Governmental Entity’s property, but the Governmental Entity will withdraw amounts 
on deposit in the Project Fund only as provided in the Project Fund Agreement and only for 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



application from time to time to the payment of Project Costs.  Pending such application, such 
amounts shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of BB&T to secure the Governmental 
Entity’s obligations under the Financing Agreement. 
 
 2.2. Requisitions from Project Fund. The City may withdraw funds from the Project 
Fund only after authorization from BB&T.  BB&T will disburse funds from the Project Fund 
only to the City and only upon its receipt of written requisitions from one of the designated City 
Representatives named in the Certificate of Authorized Representatives contained herein and 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto. 
  
 2.3. Disposition of Project Fund Balance.   
 
 (a) Upon completion -- Promptly after the acquisition and installation of the 
Equipment has been completed, the Governmental Entity shall deliver to BB&T a certificate to 
such effect signed by a Governmental Entity Representative. 
 
 (b) Upon default -- Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, BB&T may 
withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against outstanding 
Required Payments. 
 
 (c) After delay or inactivity -- If (i) more than two years have elapsed from the 
Closing Date or (ii) at least six months has passed from BB&T’s most recent receipt of a 
requisition for Project Costs, then BB&T, upon 30 days’ notice from BB&T to the Governmental 
Entity, may withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against 
outstanding Required Payments. 
 
   (d)        Application of Project Fund balance -- BB&T will apply any amounts paid to it 
pursuant to this section (i) first against all Additional Payments then due and payable, (ii) then to 
interest accrued and unpaid to the prepayment date, and (iii) then to the prepayment, in inverse 
order of maturity and without premium (notwithstanding any contrary provisions of Section 3.03 
of the Financing Agreement), of the outstanding principal components of Installment Payments. 
Such prepayment, however, will not affect any other City payment obligation under the 
Financing Agreement.  BB&T will notify the City of any withdrawal from the Project Fund made 
under this Section 2.3, and in the notice will describe its application of the funds withdrawn. 
  

2.4. Investment.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity and BB&T agree that money in the Project Fund will be 
continuously invested and reinvested in a public funds money rate savings account. 
 
 (b) From and after the date that is three years from the Closing Date, the 
Governmental Entity will not purchase or hold any investment which has a “yield,” as 
determined under the Code, in excess of the “yield” on the Governmental Entity’s obligations 
under the Financing Agreement, unless the Governmental Entity has supplied BB&T with a 
Bond Counsel Opinion to the effect that such investment will not adversely affect the exclusion 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



from gross income for federal income tax purposes to which the interest components of 
Installment Payments would otherwise be entitled.  
 
 (c) Investment obligations acquired with money in the Project Fund shall be deemed 
at all times to be part of the Project Fund.  The interest accruing thereon and any profit or loss 
realized upon the disposition or maturity of any such investment shall be credited to or charged 
against the Project Fund. 
 
 (d) All earnings on moneys in the Project Fund must be used for Project Costs. 
 
 SECTION 3. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
 3.1. Notices.  Any notice or other communication required or contemplated by this 
Project Fund Agreement shall be deemed to be delivered if in writing, addressed as provided 
below and if (a) actually received by such addressee, or (b) in the case of mailing, when indicated 
to have been delivered by a signed receipt returned by the United States Postal Service after 
deposit in the United States mails, postage and registry fees prepaid, and clearly directed to be 
transmitted as registered or certified mail: 
 

(i) If intended for the Governmental Entity, addressed to it at the following 
address:  City of Vestavia Hills, Attention: Finance Director, 1032 Montgomery 
Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216. 

 
(ii) If intended for BB&T, addressed to it at the following address:  BB&T 

Governmental Finance, Attention:  Account Administration/Municipal – Project Fund 
Agreement Notice, 5130 Parkway Plaza Boulevard, Charlotte, North Carolina  28217. 

 
Any party may designate a different or alternate address for notices by notice given under this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.2. Survival of Covenants and Representations.  All covenants, representations and 
warranties made by the Governmental Entity in this Project Fund Agreement and in any 
certificates delivered pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement shall survive the delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.3. Choice of Law.  The parties intend that Alabama law shall govern this Project 
Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.4. Amendments.  This Project Fund Agreement may not be modified or amended 
unless such amendment is in writing and signed by BB&T and the Governmental Entity. 
 
 3.5. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no parties intended to be or which shall 
be deemed to be third-party beneficiaries of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 3.6. Successors and Assigns.  All of the covenants and conditions of this Project Fund 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to this Project Fund 
Agreement and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 3.7. Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of 
this Project Fund Agreement invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.8. Counterparts.  This Project Fund Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, including separate counterparts, each executed counterpart constituting an original 
but all together only one agreement. 
 
 3.9. Termination.  Except as otherwise provided in this Project Fund Agreement, this 
Project Fund Agreement shall cease and terminate upon payment of all funds (including 
investment proceeds) from the Project Fund. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



CERTIFICATE DESIGNATING CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
 
 In accordance with the terms herein, the City designates the following persons as City 
Representatives authorized to sign requisitions to withdraw funds from the Project Fund account:  
 

Printed Name: 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 

Signature: 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 

 
 The City may designate additional Representatives to sign requisitions upon written 
notification to BB&T 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Project Fund Agreement to be 
signed and delivered by a duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above written. 
 
  
ATTEST:   CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

(SEAL) 
 

BRANCH BANKING AND  
TRUST COMPANY 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 

 
[Project Fund Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016]  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 
 

[To Be Prepared on Governmental Entity’s Letterhead for Submission] 
 

PROJECT FUND REQUISITION  
 
[Date]  ___________________ 
 
E-MAIL REQUISITIONS TO:  GFProjectfunds@bbandt.com 
 
Trina Britt                  direct dial:  704-954-1873    fax:  704-954-1799 
Project Specialist 
 

RE: Request for disbursement of funds from the Project Fund related to Contract No. 
9901000872-00004 with the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama dated August ___, 2016. 

 
Dear Ms. Britt, 
 
 Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Project Fund Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental Entity”), requests the 
disbursement of funds from the Project Fund established under the Project Fund Agreement for 
the following Project Costs: 
 
This is requisition number ____ from the Project Fund. 
 
Disbursements will be to the City of Vestavia Hills. 
 
Amount: $  
 
Attach the following to this requisition  

• Copies of vendor invoices; 
• copies of the certificates of origin listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 

Parkway Plaza Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder OR a copy of the lien 
recording application listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 Parkway Plaza 
Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder  

• Certificate of Insurance showing: 
o property coverage with BB&T Governmental Finance listed as loss payee 

and certificate holder; 
o year, make model and VIN number of vehicles; 
o loan contract number 99+01000872-00005. 

 
 
Project Description: remount rescue transport truck 
 
Location of Equipment: 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
To receive funds via wire transfer please include: 
 
ABA Routing Number: 
 
Account Number: 
 
Physical address of the Governmental Entity:   
 
 The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama makes this requisition pursuant to the following 
representations: 
 

1. The Governmental Entity has appropriated in its current fiscal year funds sufficient to pay 
the Installment Payments and estimated Additional Payments due in the current fiscal 
year. 

 
2. The purpose of this disbursement is for partial payment on the project provided for under 

the Contract referenced above.  
 

3. The requested disbursement has not been subject to any previous requisition. 
 

4. No notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to 
receive payment of, any of the moneys payable herein to any of the persons, firms or 
corporations named herein has been received, or if any notice of any such lien, attachment 
or claim has been received, such lien, attachment or claim has been released or discharged 
or will be released or discharged upon payment of this requisition. 

 
5. This requisition contains no items representing payment on account of any percentage 

entitled to be retained on the date of this requisition. 
 

6. No Event of Default is continuing under the Financing Agreement, and no event or 
condition is existing which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event 
of Default. 

 
7. The Governmental Entity will execute any Uniform Commercial Code financing 

statements with respect to this portion of the Equipment that BB&T may request to 
evidence its security interest.   

 
8. The Governmental Entity has in place insurance on this portion of the Equipment that 

complies with the insurance provisions of the above-referenced Contract. 
 

     Each amount requested for payment in this requisition either (a) represents reimbursement 
to the Governmental Entity for a Project Cost expenditure previously made, or (b) will be used 
by the Governmental Entity promptly upon the receipt of funds from BB&T to make the 
payments to third parties described in this requisition. 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



     Attached is evidence that the amounts shown in this requisition are properly payable at 
this time, such as bills, receipts, invoices, architects’ payment certifications or other appropriate 
documents. 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 

PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT  
(F-450 work truck) 

 
 THIS PROJECT FUND AGREEMENT is dated as of August ___, 2016, and is by and 
between the CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a public body of the State of Alabama (the 
“Governmental Entity”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY (“BB&T”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 The Governmental Entity is, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement, executing and delivering a Financing Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016 (the “Financing Agreement”), by and between the Governmental Entity and BB&T.  
The purpose of the Financing Agreement is to provide for BB&T’s advance of $55,000.00 to the 
Governmental Entity to finance the Governmental Entity’s acquisition of equipment, as defined 
in the Financing Agreement.  In partial consideration for BB&T’s entering into the Financing 
Agreement, the Governmental Entity has agreed to provide for financing proceeds to be 
deposited and disbursed pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 
 
 In this Project Fund Agreement, the term “Project Costs” means all costs of the design, 
planning, acquiring, installing of the Equipment as determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and that will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes of the designated interest component of Installment Payments 
payable by the Governmental Entity under the Financing Agreement, including (a) sums required 
to reimburse the Governmental Entity or its agents for advances made for any such costs, (b) 
interest during the installation process and for up to six months thereafter, and (c) all costs 
related to the financing of the Equipment through the Financing Agreement and all related 
transactions. 
 
 In addition, any capitalized terms used in this Project Fund Agreement and not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Financing Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2. PROJECT FUND. 
 
 2.1. Project Fund.  On the Closing Date, BB&T will deposit $55,000.00 into a special 
account of the Governmental Entity at Branch Banking and Trust Company to be designated 
“2016-00005 City of Vestavia Hills Project Fund” (the “Project Fund”).  This account shall be 
held separate and apart from all other funds of the Governmental Entity.  The Project Fund is the 
Governmental Entity’s property, but the Governmental Entity will withdraw amounts on deposit 
in the Project Fund only as provided in the Project Fund Agreement and only for application 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



from time to time to the payment of Project Costs.  Pending such application, such amounts shall 
be subject to a lien and charge in favor of BB&T to secure the Governmental Entity’s obligations 
under the Financing Agreement. 
 
 2.2. Requisitions from Project Fund. The City may withdraw funds from the Project 
Fund only after authorization from BB&T.  BB&T will disburse funds from the Project Fund 
only to the City and only upon its receipt of written requisitions from one of the designated City 
Representatives named in the Certificate of Authorized Representatives contained herein and 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto. 
  
 2.3. Disposition of Project Fund Balance.   
 
 (a) Upon completion -- Promptly after the acquisition and installation of the 
Equipment has been completed, the Governmental Entity shall deliver to BB&T a certificate to 
such effect signed by a Governmental Entity Representative. 
 
 (b) Upon default -- Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, BB&T may 
withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against outstanding 
Required Payments. 
 
 (c) After delay or inactivity -- If (i) more than two years have elapsed from the 
Closing Date or (ii) at least six months has passed from BB&T’s most recent receipt of a 
requisition for Project Costs, then BB&T, upon 30 days’ notice from BB&T to the Governmental 
Entity, may withdraw any balance remaining in the Project Fund and apply such balance against 
outstanding Required Payments. 
 
   (d)        Application of Project Fund balance -- BB&T will apply any amounts paid to it 
pursuant to this section (i) first against all Additional Payments then due and payable, (ii) then to 
interest accrued and unpaid to the prepayment date, and (iii) then to the prepayment, in inverse 
order of maturity and without premium (notwithstanding any contrary provisions of Section 3.03 
of the Financing Agreement), of the outstanding principal components of Installment Payments. 
Such prepayment, however, will not affect any other City payment obligation under the 
Financing Agreement.  BB&T will notify the City of any withdrawal from the Project Fund made 
under this Section 2.3, and in the notice will describe its application of the funds withdrawn. 
  

2.4. Investment.   
 
 (a) The Governmental Entity and BB&T agree that money in the Project Fund will be 
continuously invested and reinvested in a public funds money rate savings account. 
 
 (b) From and after the date that is three years from the Closing Date, the 
Governmental Entity will not purchase or hold any investment which has a “yield,” as 
determined under the Code, in excess of the “yield” on the Governmental Entity’s obligations 
under the Financing Agreement, unless the Governmental Entity has supplied BB&T with a 
Bond Counsel Opinion to the effect that such investment will not adversely affect the exclusion 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



from gross income for federal income tax purposes to which the interest components of 
Installment Payments would otherwise be entitled.  
 
 (c) Investment obligations acquired with money in the Project Fund shall be deemed 
at all times to be part of the Project Fund.  The interest accruing thereon and any profit or loss 
realized upon the disposition or maturity of any such investment shall be credited to or charged 
against the Project Fund. 
 
 (d) All earnings on moneys in the Project Fund must be used for Project Costs. 
 
 SECTION 3. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
 3.1. Notices.  Any notice or other communication required or contemplated by this 
Project Fund Agreement shall be deemed to be delivered if in writing, addressed as provided 
below and if (a) actually received by such addressee, or (b) in the case of mailing, when indicated 
to have been delivered by a signed receipt returned by the United States Postal Service after 
deposit in the United States mails, postage and registry fees prepaid, and clearly directed to be 
transmitted as registered or certified mail: 
 

(i) If intended for the Governmental Entity, addressed to it at the following 
address:  City of Vestavia Hills, Attention: Finance Director, 1032 Montgomery 
Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216. 

 
(ii) If intended for BB&T, addressed to it at the following address:  BB&T 

Governmental Finance, Attention:  Account Administration/Municipal – Project Fund 
Agreement Notice, 5130 Parkway Plaza Boulevard, Charlotte, North Carolina  28217. 

 
Any party may designate a different or alternate address for notices by notice given under this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.2. Survival of Covenants and Representations.  All covenants, representations and 
warranties made by the Governmental Entity in this Project Fund Agreement and in any 
certificates delivered pursuant to this Project Fund Agreement shall survive the delivery of this 
Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.3. Choice of Law.  The parties intend that Alabama law shall govern this Project 
Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.4. Amendments.  This Project Fund Agreement may not be modified or amended 
unless such amendment is in writing and signed by BB&T and the Governmental Entity. 
 
 3.5. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no parties intended to be or which shall 
be deemed to be third-party beneficiaries of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 3.6. Successors and Assigns.  All of the covenants and conditions of this Project Fund 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to this Project Fund 
Agreement and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 3.7. Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of 
this Project Fund Agreement invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision of this Project Fund Agreement. 
 
 3.8. Counterparts.  This Project Fund Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, including separate counterparts, each executed counterpart constituting an original 
but all together only one agreement. 
 
 3.9. Termination.  Except as otherwise provided in this Project Fund Agreement, this 
Project Fund Agreement shall cease and terminate upon payment of all funds (including 
investment proceeds) from the Project Fund. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



CERTIFICATE DESIGNATING CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
 
 In accordance with the terms herein, the City designates the following persons as City 
Representatives authorized to sign requisitions to withdraw funds from the Project Fund account:  
 

Printed Name: 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ 

 
__________________________________ 

Signature: 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________ 

 
 The City may designate additional Representatives to sign requisitions upon written 
notification to BB&T 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Project Fund Agreement to be 
signed and delivered by a duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above written. 
 
  
ATTEST:   CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 
 

(SEAL) 
 

BRANCH BANKING AND  
TRUST COMPANY 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 
 

 
[Project Fund Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016]  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 
 

[To Be Prepared on Governmental Entity’s Letterhead for Submission] 
 

PROJECT FUND REQUISITION  
 
[Date]  ___________________ 
 
E-MAIL REQUISITIONS TO:  GFProjectfunds@bbandt.com 
 
Trina Britt                  direct dial:  704-954-1873    fax:  704-954-1799 
Project Specialist 
 

RE: Request for disbursement of funds from the Project Fund related to Contract No. 
9901000872-00005 with the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama dated August ___, 2016. 

 
Dear Ms. Britt, 
 
 Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Project Fund Agreement dated as of August 
___, 2016, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental Entity”), requests the 
disbursement of funds from the Project Fund established under the Project Fund Agreement for 
the following Project Costs: 
 
This is requisition number ____ from the Project Fund. 
 
Disbursements will be to the City of Vestavia Hills. 
 
Amount: $  
 
Attach the following to this requisition  

• Copies of vendor invoices; 
• copies of the certificates of origin listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 

Parkway Plaza Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder OR a copy of the lien 
recording application listing BB&T Governmental Finance, 5130 Parkway Plaza 
Blvd., Charlotte, NC 28217 as 1st lienholder  

• Certificate of Insurance showing: 
o property coverage with BB&T Governmental Finance listed as loss payee 

and certificate holder; 
o year, make model and VIN number of vehicles; 
o loan contract number 99+01000872-00005. 

 
 
Project Description: F-450 work truck 
 
Location of Equipment: 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
To receive funds via wire transfer please include: 
 
ABA Routing Number: 
 
Account Number: 
 
Physical address of the Governmental Entity:   
 
 The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama makes this requisition pursuant to the following 
representations: 
 

1. The Governmental Entity has appropriated in its current fiscal year funds sufficient to pay 
the Installment Payments and estimated Additional Payments due in the current fiscal 
year. 

 
2. The purpose of this disbursement is for partial payment on the project provided for under 

the Contract referenced above.  
 

3. The requested disbursement has not been subject to any previous requisition. 
 

4. No notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to 
receive payment of, any of the moneys payable herein to any of the persons, firms or 
corporations named herein has been received, or if any notice of any such lien, attachment 
or claim has been received, such lien, attachment or claim has been released or discharged 
or will be released or discharged upon payment of this requisition. 

 
5. This requisition contains no items representing payment on account of any percentage 

entitled to be retained on the date of this requisition. 
 

6. No Event of Default is continuing under the Financing Agreement, and no event or 
condition is existing which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event 
of Default. 

 
7. The Governmental Entity will execute any Uniform Commercial Code financing 

statements with respect to this portion of the Equipment that BB&T may request to 
evidence its security interest.   

 
8. The Governmental Entity has in place insurance on this portion of the Equipment that 

complies with the insurance provisions of the above-referenced Contract. 
 

     Each amount requested for payment in this requisition either (a) represents reimbursement 
to the Governmental Entity for a Project Cost expenditure previously made, or (b) will be used 
by the Governmental Entity promptly upon the receipt of funds from BB&T to make the 
payments to third parties described in this requisition. 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



     Attached is evidence that the amounts shown in this requisition are properly payable at 
this time, such as bills, receipts, invoices, architects’ payment certifications or other appropriate 
documents. 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________ 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



CLOSING CERTIFICATE 
 
 The undersigned officers of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental Entity”), 
hereby certify as follows: 
 
 1. The Governmental Entity’s governing board or body (the “Board”) adopted the attached 
resolution (the “Resolution”), authorizing and providing for an installment financing with Branch 
Banking and Trust Company.  The Resolution was duly adopted at a meeting duly called and held at 
which a quorum was present and acting throughout.  The Resolution has not been repealed, revoked, 
rescinded or amended, but remains in full effect as of today.  The Resolution was adopted by the Board 
in accordance with the Alabama Open Meetings Act (Chapter 25A of Title 36 of the Code of Alabama 
(1975)).   
 
 2. The signatures set forth below are the true and genuine signatures of the persons holding 
the indicated offices.  The indicated persons have held such offices at all times since the Resolution was 
adopted.   
 

Printed Name Title Signature 
 

______________________ Mayor or City Manager 
 

_________________________ 

______________________ Finance Director 
 

_________________________ 

______________________ City Clerk 
 

_________________________ 

 
 
 3. The Governmental Entity has duly authorized, executed and delivered the Financing 
Agreement and the Project Fund Agreement provided for by the Resolution.  We have reviewed the 
Governmental Entity’s representations as set forth in such Agreements, and all of such representations 
are correct and complete in all material respects as if made today.  
 
 4. The seal impressed below is the Governmental Entity’s official seal, and has been the 
Governmental Entity’s official seal since prior to the adoption of the Resolution. 
 
 WITNESS our signatures and the seal of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, this ___ day of 
August, 2016. 
 

(SEAL) 
 
By:  ________________________ 
 Mayor or City Manager 

By:  ________________________ 
 Finance Director 

By:  ________________________ 
 City Clerk 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 USE OF PROCEEDS CERTIFICATE 
 
 The undersigned officer of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental 
Entity”) is among the Governmental Entity officers charged with responsibility for the 
Governmental Entity’s entering into a Financing Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016 (the 
“Agreement”), with Branch Banking and Trust Company (“BB&T”).  This Certificate is 
delivered as part of the official record of the proceedings for the delivery of the Agreement, as 
contemplated by Treasury Regulations Section 1.148-2(b)(2).  I am executing and delivering this 
Certificate on behalf of the Governmental Entity to set forth in good faith the Governmental 
Entity’s reasonable expectations concerning the use and investment of financing proceeds and 
other related matters, in order to assure that interest on the Obligations, as defined below, will be 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  I understand that I have an 
obligation to make the representations in this Certificate both correct and complete.   
 
 All capitalized terms used in this Certificate and not otherwise defined have the meanings 
assigned to such terms under the Treasury Regulations applicable to tax-exempt bonds.  
 
PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT 
 
 1. The Governmental Entity is executing and delivering the Agreement today to 
provide funds to finance the acquisition (the “Project”) of the equipment set forth in Exhibit A of 
the Agreement (the “Equipment”), and to pay certain financing costs.  BB&T will advance funds 
to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Agreement for the Project.  BB&T is entering into the 
Agreement for its own account with no current intention of reselling its rights under the 
Agreement or any interest therein, except that BB&T may make an assignment of payment rights 
to an affiliate, in whole, at par and without recourse. 
 
PROCEEDS; PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
 2. (a) BB&T will today advance the full principal amount to be advanced under 
the Agreement of $730,682.00 (the “Proceeds”) by making three deposits into three separate 
Project funds created under three Project Fund Agreements between the Governmental Entity and 
BB&T. 
 
 (b) Under the Agreement, the Governmental Entity is obligated to pay Installment 
Payments, as defined in the Agreement, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the 
Agreement (the Governmental Entity’s obligations to pay Installment Payments are referred to in 
this Certificate as the “Obligations”), subject to prepayment as provided in the Agreement.   
 
 (c) The Installment Payments reflect the repayment of the Proceeds and include a 
designated interest component corresponding to an annual interest rate as set forth in the 
Agreement.  The Governmental Entity does not expect to prepay any of the Obligations prior to 
the scheduled payment dates. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



USE OF PROCEEDS; REIMBURSEMENT 
 
 3. (a) All of the Proceeds and all investment earnings thereon will be used to pay 
Project Costs, including costs incurred in connection with the execution and delivery of the 
Agreement and interest on the Obligations during the Project period. 
 
 (b) All of such costs will be incurred and expenditures made subsequent to today, 
except for reimbursement to the Governmental Entity for amounts (i) paid not more than 60 days 
prior to today, (ii) representing engineering, design and similar preliminary expenses in an 
aggregate amount not exceeding 20% of the principal amount of the Obligations, or (iii) 
otherwise in an amount not exceeding 5% percent of the Proceeds. 
 
 (c) All expenditures to be reimbursed occurred not more than 18 months prior to 
today.  None of the Equipment was placed in service more than one year before today. 
 
 (d) All of the costs to be paid or reimbursed from Proceeds will be Capital 
Expenditures, and none will be Working Capital Expenditures.  No portion of the Gross Proceeds 
will be used, directly or indirectly, to make or finance loans to two or more ultimate borrowers. 
 
QUALIFICATION FOR TEMPORARY PERIOD 
 
 4. Work on the Project will begin, or did begin, on or about ___N/A___.  Work on 
the Project will proceed with due diligence, and the Equipment will be placed in service 
beginning on or about ____________.  Within 90 days of today (if it has not already done so), 
the Governmental Entity will enter into substantial binding obligations to third parties to spend 
Proceeds on Project Costs that are capital expenditures in an amount exceeding 5% of the 
amount financed.  The Governmental Entity estimates that all the Proceeds and all the investment 
earnings thereon will be fully expended within _______ months from today. 
 
INVESTMENT PROCEEDS 
 
 5. (a) Any earnings or net profit derived from the investment of the Proceeds 
will be used to pay additional Project Costs or interest on the Obligations not later than the date 
that is the later of (i) three years from today or (ii) twelve months from the date of the receipt of 
such earnings. 
 
 (b) After the date that is three years from today, the Governmental Entity will not 
invest any of the Gross Proceeds at a Yield in excess of the Yield on the Obligations. 
 
 (c) No investment will be acquired or disposed of at a cost or price that exceeds its 
Fair Market Value as of the acquisition date, or which is less than its Fair Market Value as of the 
disposition date.  No portion will be invested in any investment as to which the economic return 
is substantially guaranteed for more than three years. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 (d) No portion of the Gross Proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, to replace 
funds that the Governmental Entity used (directly or indirectly) to acquire securities or 
obligations producing (or expected to produce) a Yield higher than the Yield on the Obligations. 
 
NO OVER-ISSUANCE OR EXCESSIVE MATURITY 
 
 6. (a) The sum of the Proceeds and the reasonably expected investment earnings 
thereon does not exceed the amount reasonably expected to be required to pay Project Costs, 
including interest on the Obligations during the Project period and financing costs. 
 
 (b) The term of the Obligations is not longer than reasonably necessary for the 
governmental purposes thereof and is not longer than the expected useful life of the Equipment. 
 
 (c) In connection with the issuance of the Obligations, the Governmental Entity has 
not utilized any device (not described in this Certificate) which attempts to circumvent the 
restrictions of the Code to exploit the difference between tax-exempt and taxable interest rates to 
obtain a material financial advantage.  The Governmental Entity has not attempted to increase 
improperly the burden on the market for tax-exempt securities (for example, by selling its 
obligations in larger amounts or with longer maturities, or selling them sooner, than would 
otherwise be necessary). 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH REBATE REQUIREMENT 
 
 7. In the Agreement, the Governmental Entity has agreed to comply with provisions 
of the Code which in some circumstances require the Governmental Entity to pay some of its 
investment earnings to the United States, as provided in Code Section 148. 
 
PRIVATE ACTIVITY TESTS 
 
 8. No payment on the Obligations is secured by property to be used in any private 
business.  None of the Proceeds are to be used for any such private business use.  The 
Governmental Entity has no leases, management contracts or other agreements with private 
entities or the federal government for either (a) management or operation of the Equipment, or 
(b) the use of designated portions of the Equipment. 
 
QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS 
 
 9. (a) None of the Obligations are “private activity bonds” within the meaning of 
Code Section 141.  The aggregate amount of tax-exempt obligations, including the Obligations, 
issued and reasonably expected as of today to be issued in calendar year 2016 by (i) the 
Governmental Entity, (ii) all entities on behalf of which the Governmental Entity issues tax-
exempt obligations, (iii) all governmental units that are “subordinate” to the Governmental 
Entity, within the meaning of Code Section 265(b)(3), and (iv) all entities that issue tax-exempt 
obligations on behalf of the same such entities, does not exceed $10,000,000.  The Governmental 
Entity has no reason to believe that the Governmental Entity and such other entities will issue 
tax-exempt obligations in 2016 in an aggregate amount that will exceed such $10,000,000 limit. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 
 (b) In making the statements in subparagraph (a) above, I have taken into account (i) 
all the Governmental Entity’s departments and agencies and (ii) all political subdivisions or other 
entities (x) which have the power to borrow money or enter into contracts and (y) of which the 
Governmental Entity is a member or over which it has legal or practical control.  For all of such 
entities, I have taken into account all bonds, bond anticipation notes, installment or lease-
purchase contracts and all other obligations to pay money (excluding only current accounts 
payable and private activity bonds) issued or to be issued or contracted by such entities in 
calendar year 2016.  I have not included those private activity bonds or those refunding 
obligations excluded from the annual $10,000,000 calculation by Code Section 265(b)(3). 
 
INVESTED SINKING FUNDS 
 
 10. There are no funds (a) to be held under the Agreement or (b) which are pledged as 
security for the Obligations (including by way of negative pledges), or which will be used to pay 
the Obligations, or which could be reasonably be expected to be available to pay the Obligations 
if the Governmental Entity were to encounter financial difficulty, other than the Project Fund 
referenced above.  The Governmental Entity will pay the Obligations from its general funds, with 
there being no obligation (or expectation) on the part of the Governmental Entity or any other 
entity to segregate or identify any particular funds or accounts for the payment of or security for 
the Obligations. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 11. (a) No substantial part of the Equipment will be sold, no arrangement has 
been or will be entered into with respect to the Equipment that would be treated as a sale for 
federal income tax purposes, and the Governmental Entity expects to use the Equipment for its 
currently-intended purpose at least until the stated date for final payment of the Obligations, in all 
cases other than such insubstantial portions as may be disposed of in the ordinary course of 
business due to normal wear or obsolescence. 
 
 (b) There are no other tax-exempt bonds, notes or obligations of the Governmental 
Entity which have been or are expected to be issued or contracted within 20 days before or after 
today.  
 
 (c) None of the Proceeds will be used to make any payment on any other 
Governmental Entity obligation that was contracted in the exercise of the Governmental Entity’s 
borrowing power. 
 
 (d) No portion of the Obligations is Federally Guaranteed. 
 
REASONABLENESS; BINDING EFFECT 
 
 12. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the expectations set forth above are 
reasonable and the statements set forth above are correct.  The Governmental Entity’s covenants 
made as described in this Certificate are intended as binding covenants of the Governmental 
Entity.

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



 WITNESS my signature this ___ day of August, 2016. 
 
 
 

 CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 

By:  _________________________________ 
Finance Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Use of Proceeds Certificate. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 

INVOICING INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
CONTRACT NUMBERS:   9901000872-00003, 00004 & 00005 
 
CONTRACT DATE:   August ___, 2016 
 
INVOICING ADDRESS: 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
CONTACT PERSON:   
 
PHONE NUMBER:   
 
FAX NUMBER:   
 
CONTACT PERSON’S E-MAIL ADDRESS:      

 
 

Please complete this form to indicate the address where we should mail reminder 
invoices for loan payments, and to indicate contact information should we have 
questions. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



(Form of Governmental Entity Attorney’s Opinion Letter) 
 

(To be printed on Attorney’s letterhead) 
 
 
 August ___, 2016 
 
City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 
Branch Banking and Trust Company (“BB&T”) 
Charlotte, North Carolina 
 
 
 $730,682.00  Financing Agreement for the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
 I have represented the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the “Governmental Entity”) in 
connection with the Governmental Entity’s authorization, execution and delivery of the following: 
 
 (1) A Financing Agreement dated as of August ___, 2016 (the “Financing Agreement”), 
between the Governmental Entity and BB&T; and  
 
 (2) Three (3) Project Fund Agreements each dated as of August ___, 2016 (the “Project 
Fund Agreements”), between the Governmental Entity and BB&T. 
 
 In this connection, I have reviewed (a) the constitution and other applicable laws of the State 
of Alabama; (b) certain proceedings taken by the Governmental Entity, including a resolution (the 
“Resolution”), duly adopted by the City, pertaining to the authorization of the above documents and 
related transactions; (c) executed copies of the Financing Agreement and the Project Fund 
Agreements (collectively, the “Agreements”); and (d) such other information and documents as I 
have deemed relevant in order to render this opinion. 
 
 Based upon the foregoing, it is my opinion that: 
 
 1. The Governmental Entity is an Alabama public body duly existing pursuant to 
Alabama law. 
 
 2. The Governmental Entity has duly adopted the Resolution.  
 
 3.  The Governmental Entity has duly authorized, executed and delivered each 
Agreement.  Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of an Agreement by every 
other party thereto, each such Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the 
Governmental Entity enforceable in accordance with its terms.  The enforceability of the 
Governmental Entity’s obligations with respect to the Agreements is subject to the provisions of 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting the enforcement 
of creditors’ rights.  The enforceability of such obligations is also subject to usual equity 
principles, which may limit the specific enforcement of certain remedies. 
 
 4. No further approval, consent or withholding of objections is required from any 
federal, state or local government authority with respect to the Governmental Entity’s entering 
into the Financing Agreement, the Governmental Entity’s performing its obligations thereunder 
or the transactions contemplated thereby.  The Governmental Entity has complied with all 
required public bidding procedures regarding the Equipment (as defined in the Financing 
Agreement) and the transactions contemplated by the Financing Agreement. 
 
 5. All of the Equipment described in the Financing Agreement as intended to be 
financed by the Governmental Entity will be personal property when installed as expected, and 
no portion will be real property or a “fixture” within the meaning of the Alabama Uniform 
Commercial Code. 
 
 6. To the best of my knowledge after reasonable investigation, neither (a) the 
adoption of the Resolution, nor (b) the execution and delivery of the Agreements or the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, nor (c) the fulfillment of or compliance 
with the terms and conditions of the Agreements, breaches or violates any provision of any 
contract, lease, instrument or other agreement or any judgment, order or decree of any court or 
other governmental authority to which the Governmental Entity is a party or by which the 
Governmental Entity is bound.  No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening 
or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument which, at this time, constitutes a default 
or which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default under any 
such contract, lease, instrument or other agreement or any such judgment, order or decree. 
 
 7. There is no litigation or any proceeding before any governmental agency pending or, 
to the best of my knowledge after reasonable investigation, threatened against the Governmental 
Entity (or any official thereof in an official capacity) with respect to (a) the Governmental Entity’s 
organization or existence, (b) the Governmental Entity’s authority to execute and deliver the 
Agreements, to adopt the Resolution or to comply with the terms thereof, (c) the transactions 
contemplated by the Agreements and the Resolution, (d) the title to office of any Governmental 
Entity governing board or body member or any other Governmental Entity officer, or  (e) any 
authority or proceedings relating to the Governmental Entity’s execution or delivery of the 
Agreements. 
 
 
       Very truly yours, 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4870



Resolution Number 4871 
Page 1 

 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4871 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CHANGE ORDER AND OVERHEAD 
CHARGES FROM FORESTRY ENVIRONMENTAL FOR ADDITIONAL 
WORK AT MEADOWLAWN PARK 

 
WHEREAS, on December 15, 2015, the Vestavia Hills City Council adopted and 

approved Resolution 4772 with a desire to construct Meadowlawn Park authorizing the 

expenditure of funds consistent with, and as further clarified in  Exhibit 1, a copy of which is 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4871; and 

WHEREAS, upon commencement of construction of said park, the City was notified by 

Jefferson County Environmental Services that they will require a sanitary sewer liner to be 

placed in a 700 linear foot section of existing sanitary sewer pipe; and  

WHEREAS, the City sought quotes from approved Jefferson County Environmental 

Service vendors, and obtained a quote of $42,000 from Southeast Sewer Services for the stated 

scope of services has been approved by Jefferson County Environmental Services and is to be 

included as a change order to the Forestry Environmental contract approved in Resolution 4772; 

and 

WHEREAS, an updated funding summary as of August 17, 2016, is detailed as Exhibit 

2, a copy of which is attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4871 as though 

written fully therein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Vestavia Hills City Council authorizes approval of the change order and overhead 

charges from Forestry Environmental to accomplish the additional work as described 

above at an amount estimated to cost $ 47,500, and authorizes Exhibit 2 in its entirety; 

and 

2. The additional cost of this change order shall be funded from the Capital Reserve Fund of 

the City; and 

3. This Resolution number 4871 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

 
 



Resolution Number 4871 
Page 2 

 
ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 

Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
Mayor 

 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit	1

Funding Summary (as of 12/14/15)
Cahaba Heights Park Development
(Meadowlawn Drive)

Funding Source
ADEM Grant/Loan 1,190,400.00$             
Community Foundation of Greater Birmingham 50,000.00$                  
Sub Total 1,240,400.00$             

Expenditure Summary
Design and Property Purchase (1,029,192.87)$          
Site Contractor (Forestry Envrionmental) (452,690.00)$               
Site Amenities (50,000.00)$                 
Trail and Parking Pad (50,000.00)$                 
Subtotal (1,581,882.87)$          

Difference to Be Funded from Capital Reserve Fund (341,482.87)$               



Exhibit	2

Funding Summary (as of 8/17/16)
Cahaba Heights Park Development
(Meadowlawn Drive)

Funding Source
ADEM Grant/Loan 1,190,400.00$             
Community Foundation of Greater Birmingham 50,000.00$                  
Sub Total 1,240,400.00$             

Expenditure Summary
Design and Property Purchase (1,131,056.52)$          
Site Contractor (Forestry Envrionmental) (452,690.00)$               
Site Amenities (50,000.00)$                 
Trail and Parking Pad (50,000.00)$                 
Change Order No.1 (sanitary sewer liner) (47,500.00)$                 
Subtotal (1,731,246.52)$          

Difference to Be Funded from Capital Reserve Fund (490,846.52)$               



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2677 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING ORDINANCE NUMBERS 97, 751 AND 
1425 AND AMENDING SECTION NUMBERS 15-2 THROUGH 15-8 OF 
THE VESTAVIA HILLS CODE OF ORDINANCES TO REGULATE AND 
CONTROL ALL UTILITY CONSTRUCTION, BOTH PUBLIC AND 
PRIVATE, UNDER EXISTING ASPHALT AND CONCRETE SURFACES 
WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY WHERE THE CITY HAS 
JURISDICTION IN AN EFFORT TO PROTECT THE INTEGRITY, 
SAFETY, AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ROADWAYS 
WITHIN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

 
WHEREAS, on February 3, 1964, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 97 – An Ordinance fixing and prescribing 

fees to be charged for blasting permits and for excavation in highway, alley or street permits 

issued by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

WHEREAS, on April 15, 1985, the City Council adopted and approved Ordinance 

Number 751 requiring developers to submit sureties for subdivision streets developed in the 

City; and 

 WHEREAS, on January 5, 1994, the City Council adopted and approved Ordinance 

Number 1425 – An Ordinance to Amend Ordinance Number 290 of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama Business License; and 

WHEREAS, in the exercise of its lawful authority, the City may enact police power 

ordinances to promote and protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public; and 

WHEREAS, issues have arisen under the standing Ordinances related to utility 

construction, as the means and methods used by utility companies, contractors, developers, etc. 

to install, adjust, repair or relocate utilities in public rights-of-way are not always in accordance 

with standard City specifications and therefore result in damage to the structural integrity of the 

public way and interference with the public’s use of the public way; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills Public Services Department has performed a 

study of the City’s existing ordinances, process and fee structure related to street cuts, as well as 

street-cut procedures followed by other jurisdictions in an effort to develop an improved process 

for the City to adopt to address such issues; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the repeal of prior ordinances along with the 

adoption of a new ordinance to regulate said operations would further enhance the health, safety, 



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 2 

 

and welfare of the public. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That in order to protect the City’s roadways and the citizens who utilize them on a daily 

basis, the Mayor and the City Council hereby repeal Ordinance Numbers 97, 751 and 

1425 and amend Section Numbers 15-2 through 15-8 of the Vestavia Hills Code of 

Ordinances in their entirety and shall read as follows:   

 
 
“Sec. 15.2. – Street Cutting permit – Establishment of Procedure; Fee  
 

ARTICLE 1: APPLICABILITY 
 
These standards shall apply to all underground public and private utilities that are 
to be located, adjusted, repaired or relocated within the rights-of-way of roadways 
under the jurisdiction of the City.  It shall be unlawful for any person other than 
an authorized officer, employee or agent of the City to make any opening, cut or 
excavation in or under the surface of any street, alley, sidewalk or public way on 
the property of the City without having first obtained a permit as provided by this 
Ordinance.  All permanent pavement repair work is to be performed by the City 
or a Contractor acting on behalf of the City.  It is the responsibility of the Utility 
Owner or Contractor to coordinate with the City Engineer on work to be 
performed.  The Utility Owner or Contractor will be responsible for installing 
proper backfill, compacting appropriately, and installing a temporary asphalt 
repair once the utility work is complete.  Upon inspection by the City, the City or 
Contractor acting on behalf of the City will complete the necessary paving work 
to repair the surface in a permanent and appropriate manner. 
 

ARTICLE 2: APPLICATION AND FEES 
 
Street Cut Fee 
An underlying street cut fee in the amount of $100 shall accompany a Street 
Cutting Permit application for utility work in City right-of-way.   
 
Restoration Deposit 
A restoration deposit is required to accompany a Street Cutting Permit application 
to pay for the proper restoration of asphalt or concrete that was removed.  The 
City will be responsible for the repair, and the deposit will be used for that 
purpose.  It will be the responsibility of the utility company or contractor making 
the cut to properly backfill the excavated area per City specifications and details 
in preparation for the new asphalt and/or new concrete to be installed. 
 
A sketch that shows the extents and dimensions of the impacted area shall be 



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 3 

 

provided to the City Engineer prior to submission of a Street Cut permit 
application or, in the case of an emergency situation as identified in Section 4, 
upon application for a permit.  The City Engineer will determine the amount of 
the restoration deposit per the sketch provided based on current industry costs for 
construction labor and materials, rounded up to the nearest hundred.  The deposit 
will be filed with the City Engineer.      
 
Any excess of such deposit over the cost required for proper restoration shall 
remain on deposit with the city for such time as the utility company or contractor 
is licensed to do business within the city and can be transferred for future 
restoration deposits.  If the cost of restoration exceeds the amount of the deposit, 
the difference shall be paid by the utility company or contractor.  The payment 
must be paid within five days of the day upon which the applicant is billed by the 
city for the excess amount.   
 
Impact Fee for New Surface 
Additionally, any cut made in pavement, curb or sidewalk which has been 
constructed or repaved less than five years from the date the permit application 
and fee are filed is subject to an additional impact fee that will become part of the 
general fund of the City.  The amount of the said impact fee will be prorated 
according to the age of the pavement as outlined below: 
 

Impact Fee for New Surfaces (< 5 years): 
during first 12 months after 
completion $500 
during second 12 months after 
completion $400 
during third 12 months after 
completion $300 
during fourth 12 months after 
completion $200 
during fifth 12 months after 
completion $100 

 
 
Sec. 15.3. – Same - Performance 
 
Before any Contractor shall engage in the business of making excavations in the 
City, he shall first obtain the proper license and execute and deposit a good and 
sufficient bond in the sum of $10,000 with the City Engineer.  The bond shall be 
executed by a corporate surety authorized to do business in the state of 
Alabama.  The bond shall provide that the city shall be indemnified and saved 
harmless from all claims and liabilities arising from acts or omissions of such 
person and his employee, servants and agents in performing such work or from 
any unfaithful or inadequate work done either by him or by his employees, 
servants and agents, and that all work done by such person shall be performed 



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 4 

 

in a good and workmanlike manner, conforming to the specification requirements 
herein in addition to all other City regulations and requirements.  This bond shall 
remain in full force and effect until 30 days after receipt by the City Engineer 
of written notice of the surety's intent to cancel this bond. Except with respect to 
liability accruing prior to the effective date of cancellation, the surety’s 
liability on the bond shall terminate 30 days after receipt by the City 
Engineer of such written notice.  The bond shall be submitted to the City 
Engineer for approval and shall be kept in the custody of the City Engineer. 
 
 
Sec. 15.4. – Same – Emergency Repairs; 
 
In the event that any sewer, main, conduit or other utility installation in or under 
any street, alley, sidewalk or public way shall burst, break or otherwise be in such 
condition as to seriously endanger persons or property, the owner of such sewer, 
main, conduit or other installation shall immediately repair such trouble and shall 
immediately take all necessary steps to make such location safe and secure. The 
City should be notified of any emergency work performed as soon as possible.  
Such owner shall not begin making any permanent repairs to such street, alley, 
sidewalk or public way until he meets the permit requirements as provided in this 
article. Such permit shall be secured within 18 hours after such break or serious 
trouble shall have developed, and the necessary temporary repairs to the street, 
alley, sidewalk or public way shall be made as directed by the City Engineer or 
his authorized deputy and shall be completed as soon as practical after receipt of 
proper permit.  
 
Sec. 15.5 – Same – Specifications and Standards 
 
All work shall conform to the City of Vestavia Hills guidelines for utility repair in 
public right-of-way.  See the City of Vestavia Hills Public Works Manual and the 
City of Vestavia Hills Subdivision Regulations 
 
 
Sec. 15.6 – RESERVED 
 
 
Sec. 15.7 – Deposit of Construction Materials, etc. 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person engaged in or responsible for the construction 
of any structure or the grading, clearing or maintaining of any lot within the City 
limits to cause or permit the depositing of soil, rocks, gravel, mud, cement, 
construction debris and maintenance debris on the traveled way, gutters, 
sidewalks or storm draining facilities of any street, alley or thoroughfare of said 
City at any time.  The acts prohibited by this section shall include the scattering of 
soil, sand, cement and mud by the tires and tracts of construction vehicles. 
(Ord. No. 209, § 1,7-6-71) 



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 5 

 

 
Sec. 15.8 – Developers of subdivisions to guarantee street improvement and 
construction 
 
Developers of subdivisions in the City shall execute and deliver a written 
agreement and comply with the requirements, policies and procedures set forth in 
the City’s Public Works Manual as approved by the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission.  All subdivisions shall be built in accordance with the minimum 
requirements set forth in said agreement and in compliance with all other terms 
and provisions of the Public Works Manual and the Vestavia Hills Subdivision 
regulations.” 

 
2. PENALTIES:  In addition to any other penalty imposed by the provisions of any city 

code or ordinance, any person or entity violating the provisions of this article shall pay all 

costs of restoring any street, sidewalk, alley or public way necessitated by such violation. 

3. SEVERABILITY:  If any portion of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional, 

invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not affect the remaining portions of this 

chapter nor render the remaining portions of this chapter invalid, and to that end the 

provisions hereof are declared to be severable. 

4. EFFECTIVE DATE:  The requirements set forth herein shall be effective following 

posting/publishing as required by Alabama law. 

 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2677 
Page 6 

 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2677 is a true and correct copy of such 
Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 12th 
day of September, 2016, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, Vestavia 
Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2016. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES 

 
 
August 17, 2016 
 
To: Brian Davis, Director of Public Services 
 
From: Lori Beth Kearley, Senior Civil Engineer 
 
RE: Street Cut Ordinance 
 
 

A new Street Cut Ordinance has been prepared in order to better protect the integrity of the 
City’s roadways.  The Street Cut Ordinance will be applicable to all underground public and 
private utilities that are to be located, adjusted, repaired or relocated within the City rights-of-
way.  Through email correspondence and face-to-face meetings with both Birmingham Water 
Works and Alagasco, both utility companies have agreed to adhere to the new process and 
requirements.  This will also be applicable to all other utility companies as well as contractors for 
private developments.     

The City will enter into a contractual agreement with a paving contractor that will be responsible 
for handling all permanent pavement repair work associated with utility cuts.  A Restoration 
Deposit filed by the permit applicant will be used to cover the fee for the work.  The estimated 
square yards of utility cuts (public and private) to be repaired per year are 500 square yards.  Per 
preliminary discussions with Smith Paving, the current unit pricing for asphalt repair work is 
currently $65/square yard.  Based on that, it is estimated that the cost for asphalt repair due to 
utility cuts is $32,500/year.  It is anticipated that the contract will extend for a period of 12 
months from the date of award.  As stated previously, the restoration deposits filed at the time of 
application are intended to fully cover the repair costs. 

The project will be bid in accordance with Alabama law.  The effective date of the Ordinance 
will be October 1, 2016. 

  

 

 

Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2677



Request for Proposal 
Repair of Utility Cuts in the City of Vestavia Hills Rights-of-Way 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
Purpose:  The intent of this Request for Proposal and resulting contractual agreement is to obtain 
services of a qualified paving contractor to be readily available to provide services to the City of Vestavia 
Hills Public Services Department for the permanent repair of all utility cuts within the public rights-of-way.  
 
Construction Requirements:   
Contractor shall furnish all materials, supplies, equipment, fuel, tools, and perform all labor to properly 
complete the repair of utility cuts to meet the City of Vestavia Hills' regulations. 
 
The permanent repair work to be completed as part of this contract is as follows: 
 

 Removal of temporary patching and backfill material as necessary for installation of permanent 
asphalt or concrete surface. 

 Install permanent patch (asphalt or concrete) in accordance with the City of Vestavia Hills’ 
requirements. 

 All permanent pavement patches and repairs shall be made with “in kind’ materials. For example, 
concrete patches in concrete surfaces, full depth asphalt patches with full depth asphalt, concrete 
pavement with asphalt overlay patches will be expected in permanent “overlaid’ concrete streets, 
etc. In no case is there to be an asphalt patch in concrete streets or concrete patch in asphalt 
streets.  

 The depth of asphalt patches in asphalt streets shall typically be the depth of the existing asphalt 
surface, with a minimum thickness of two and a half (2.5) inches, or as specified by the City 
Engineer. 

 Concrete pavement shall be replaced with 3,000 psi concrete to match the finish and thickness of 
the existing pavement, but not less than eight (8) inches thick. All concrete construction shall be 
protected from vehicular traffic, including contractor vehicles, until the concrete has achieved 
eighty (80) percent of its ultimate strength. Concrete shall be coated and sealed with a uniform 
application of membrane curing compound applied in accordance with manufacturer’s 
recommendations 

 Concrete pavement shall be doweled into existing concrete pavement if required by City 
Engineer. 

 All traffic striping, markings, and legends shall be replaced in-kind.  
 
The contractor shall make adequate provisions to assure that traffic and adjacent property owners 
experience a minimum of inconvenience and interruption.  All traffic control shall be the responsibility of 
the contractor and shall be in accordance with the current Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD).  All lane closures required (partial or full)  shall be coordinated with both the City of Vestavia 
Hills Public Services Department and Police Department.   
 
All work shall be completed in a satisfactory and timely manner.  If not, this will be grounds for canceling 
the contract.  Any unsatisfactory repair work shall be removed and properly replaced at the Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
Contract Period:  Contract will extend for 12 months from time of awarding of this contract to the 
selected contractor.   
 
Estimated Quantities:  Estimated square yards of utility cuts to be repaired per year - 500 square yards. 
 
Bond Requirements:  Before any Contractor shall engage in the business of making excavations in the 
City, he shall first obtain the proper license and execute and deposit a good and sufficient bond in the 

Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2677



sum of $10,000 with the City Engineer.  The bond shall be executed by a corporate surety authorized to 
do business in the state of Alabama.  The bond shall provide that the city shall be indemnified and 
saved harmless from all claims and liabilities arising from acts or omissions of such person and his 
employee, servants and agents in performing such work or from any unfaithful or inadequate work 
done either by him or by his employees, servants and agents, and that all work done by such person 
shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner, conforming to the specification requirements 
herein in addition to all other City regulations and requirements.  This bond shall remain in full force and 
effect until 30 days after receipt by the City Engineer of written notice of the surety's intent to cancel 
this bond. Except with respect to liability accruing prior to the effective date of cancellation, the 
surety’s liability on the bond shall terminate 30 days after receipt by the City Engineer of such 
written notice.  The bond shall be submitted to the City Engineer for approval and shall be kept in 
the custody of the City Engineer. 
 
 
The City reserves the right to increase or decrease quantities without a change in 
bid price. 
  
 
 

Bid Per Square Yard of Asphalt: ________________________ 
 
 

Bid Per Square Yard of Concrete: _______________________ 
 
 

Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2677



SITE PLAN WITH CUT DIMENSIONS

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RESTORATION FEE IMPACT FEE

SITE INSPECTION DATE BY

BUILDING INSPECTOR
APPROVED

CITY ENGINEER
APPROVED

COMMENTS

ADDRESS OF CUT

OWNER OF PROPERTY

PURPOSE OF CUT

STREET CUTTING PERMIT #

1032 MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY, VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35216  �  PHONE 205/978-0150  �  FAX 205/978-0199

STREET CUTTING PERMIT APPLICATION

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama
Department of Building Safety

TYPE OF STREET

ASPHALT

CONCRETE

COST OF PERMIT: $100.00

IN SQUARE FEET

SIZE OF STREET CUT

DATE

STATE ZIP CODE PHONE #

CONTRACTOR

E-MAIL

ADDRESS

CITY

DATE
Signature of Contractor or Authorized Agent Print Name

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE READ THIS APPLICATION AND THAT ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS TRUE AND 
CORRECT AND THAT I AGREE TO COMPLY WITH ALL CITY ORDINANCES AND STATE LAWS REGULATING STREET CUTTING. I AM 
THE OWNER OR AUTHORIZED TO ACT AS THE OWNER’S AGENT FOR THE HEREIN DESCRIBED WORK.

Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2677



CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 
 

 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY/SHELBY COUNTY 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 
 The undersigned hereby certify that the official canvass of the votes cast in the general 
municipal election held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on August 23, 2016, shows that 
Ashley Curry was duly elected to the Office of Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for 
the term commencing on the first Monday of November, 2016. 
 
 Adopted pursuant to the requirements of Sections 11-46-20 et seq. of the Alabama Code 
of 1975, as amended, this the 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.    Steve Ammons 
Mayor       Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
George Pierce      John Henley 
Councilor      Councilor 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  
Jim Sharp 
Councilor 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 
 

 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY/SHELBY COUNTY 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 
 The undersigned hereby certify that the official canvass of the votes cast in the general 
municipal election held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on August 23, 2016, shows that 
Dennis “Rusty” Weaver was duly elected to the Office of City Council, Place No. 1 of the City 
of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the term commencing on the first Monday of November, 2016. 
 
 Adopted pursuant to the requirements of Sections 11-46-20 et seq. of the Alabama Code 
of 1975, as amended, this the 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.    Steve Ammons 
Mayor       Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
George Pierce      John Henley 
Councilor      Councilor 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  
Jim Sharp 
Councilor 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 
 

 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY/SHELBY COUNTY 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 
 The undersigned hereby certify that the official canvass of the votes cast in the general 
municipal election held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on August 23, 2016, shows that 
Kimberly Cook was duly elected to the Office of City Council, Place No. 2 of the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the term commencing on the first Monday of November, 2016. 
 
 Adopted pursuant to the requirements of Sections 11-46-20 et seq. of the Alabama Code 
of 1975, as amended, this the 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.    Steve Ammons 
Mayor       Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
George Pierce      John Henley 
Councilor      Councilor 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  
Jim Sharp 
Councilor 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 
 

 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY/SHELBY COUNTY 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 
 The undersigned hereby certify that the official canvass of the votes cast in the general 
municipal election held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on August 23, 2016, shows that 
no candidate received a majority of votes for the Office of City Council, Place No. 3 and a runoff 
election was declared for October 4, 2016 between candidates Steve Ammons and Paul J. Head.  
On August 25, 2016 Steve Ammons submitted a sworn statement to withdraw from the election.  
Pursuant to Section 11-46-55 of the Alabama Code of 1975, Paul J. Head was duly elected to the 
Office of City Council, Place No. 3 of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the term 
commencing on the first Monday of November, 2016. 
 
 Adopted pursuant to the requirements of Sections 11-46-20 et seq. of the Alabama Code 
of 1975, as amended, this the 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.    Steve Ammons 
Mayor       Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
George Pierce      John Henley 
Councilor      Councilor 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  
Jim Sharp 
Councilor 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 
 

 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY/SHELBY COUNTY 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 
 The undersigned hereby certify that the official canvass of the votes cast in the general 
municipal election held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on August 23, 2016, shows that 
George Pierce was duly elected to the Office of City Council, Place No. 4 of the City of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama, for the term commencing on the first Monday of November, 2016. 
 
 Adopted pursuant to the requirements of Sections 11-46-20 et seq. of the Alabama Code 
of 1975, as amended, this the 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.    Steve Ammons 
Mayor       Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
George Pierce      John Henley 
Councilor      Councilor 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  
Jim Sharp 
Councilor 
 
 



 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4873 
 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING ALCOHOL LICENSE 

FOR ROSHAN 1 LLC D/B/A AM PM CHEVRON; 
PYARALI KESHWANI AND SEHZAD KESHWANI, 
EXECUTIVES 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approves 

the alcohol license for Roshan 1 LLC d/b/a AM PM Chevron, located at 2544 Rocky 

Ridge Drive, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the sale of 050 - Retail Beer (Off-Premises 

Only) and 070 - Retail Table Wine (Off-Premises Only); Pyarali Keshwani and Sehzad 

Keshwani, executives. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



Exhibit - Resolution No. 4873



STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20160630141408961

Type License: 050-RETAIL BEER (OFF PREMISES ONLY) State: County:
Type License: 070 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (OFF PREMISES ONLY) State: County:

Trade Name: AM PM CHEVRON Filing Fee:

Applicant: ROSHAN 1 LLC Transfer Fee: $100.00

Location Address: 2544 ROCKY RIDGE DR VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35243

Mailing Address: 2544 ROCKY RIDGE DR VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35243

County: JEFFERSON Tobacco sales: YES Tobacco Vending Machines: 0

Type Ownership: LLC

Book, Page, or Document info: 2016057214 PG 1

Date Incorporated: 06/08/2016 State incorporated: AL County Incorporated: JEFFERSON

Date of Authority: 06/08/2016 Alabama State Sales Tax ID: R009503853

Name: Title: Date and Place of Birth: Residence Address:

PYARALI KESHWANI

8645654 - AL

MEMBER 06/20/1949

INDIA
620 RIVER HAVEN CIRCLE

HOOVER, AL 35244

SHEZAD KESHWANI

8322118-AL

MEMBER 06/15/1977

INDIA

620 RIVER HAVEN CIRCLE

HOOVER, AL 35244

Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5-.14? YES
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee? NO
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a Federal/State permit or license suspended or revoked? NO
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked? NO
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person(s), in any manner interested in the business sought to be
licensed? YES

Are any of the applicants, whether individual, member of a partnership or association, or officers and
directors of a corporation itself, in any manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the
profits of any other class of business regulated under authority of this act? NO
Does applicant own or control, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is
rented, leased or used in the conduct of business by the holder of any vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority of this act? NO
Is applicant receiving, either directly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereof from or
through a subsidiary or affiliate or other licensee, or from any firm, association or corporation operating
under or regulated by the authority of this act? NO

Contact Person: SHEZAD KESHWANI

Business Phone: 205-979-3030
Fax:

PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION:

Trade Name: VESTAVIA MART

Applicant: VESTAVIA MART LLC

Home Phone: 678-508-8786

Cell Phone: 678-508-8786

E-mail: AMPMCHEVRON(S YAHOO.COM

Previous License Number(s)
License 1: 010648437

License 2: 010648437

Exhibit - Resolution No. 4873



iLL

STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20160630141408961

If applicant is leasing the property, isa copy of the lease agreement attached? YES
Name of Property owner/lessor and phone number: D AND M LLC 205-841-8810
What is lessors primary business? GAS SUPPLIER
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business? N/A
Is there any further interest, or connection with, the licensee's business by the lessor? N/A

Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen? NO
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public? NO
Does the establishment have restroom facilities? YES

Is the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of alcoholic beverages? NO

Will the business be operated primarily as a package store? NO
Building Dimensions Square Footage: 2500 Display Square Footage:
Buildingseating capacity: 0 Does Licensed premises include a patio area? NO
License Structure: SINGLE STRUCTURE License covers: ENTIRE STRUCTURE
Location is within: CITY LIMITS Police protection: CITY

Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of any law violation(s)?
Name: Violation & Date: Arresting Agency: Disposition:

Exhibit - Resolution No. 4873



Initial eac

LB

Ik

STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20160630141408961

Signature page
In reference to lawviolations, Iattest to the truthfulness ofthe responses given within the application.

In reference to the Lease/property ownership, Iattest to the truthfulness of the responses given within

- the application.

(f\ In reference to ACT No. 80-529, Iunderstand that if my application is denied or discontinued, Iwill not be
refunded the filing fee required by this application.

In reference to Special Retail or Special Events retail license, I agree to complywith all applicable laws and

regulations concerning this class of license, and to observe the special terms and conditions as indicated

within the application.

In reference to the ClubApplication information, I attest to the truthfulness of the responses given

^ within theapplication.

gfj In reference to the transfer of license/location, Iattest to the truthfulness of the information listed on the
attached transfer agreement. .

In accordance with Alabama Rules &Regulations 20-X-5-.01 (4), any social security number disclosed

under this regulation shall be used for the purpose of investigation or verification by the ABC Board

and shall not be a matter of public record.

Ly\ The undersigned agree, if a license is issued asherein applied for, to comply at all times with and to fully
observe all the provisions of the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, as appears in Code of Alabama,

Title 28, and all laws of the State of Alabama relative to the handling of alcoholic beverages.

The undersigned, if issued a license as herein requested, further agrees to obey all rules and regulations

promulgated by the board relative to all alcoholic beverages received in this State. The undersigned,

if issued a license as herein requested, also agrees to allow and hereby invites duly authorized agents of

the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Board and any duly commissioned law enforcement officer of

the State, County or Municipality in which the license premises are located to enter and search without

a warrant the licensed premises or any building owned or occupied by him or her in connection with

said licensed premises. The undersigned hereby understands that he or she violate any provisions of the

aforementioned laws his or her license shall be subject to revocation and no license can be again issued

to said licensee for a period of one year. The undersigned further understands and agrees that no changes

in the manner of operation and no deletion or discontinuance of any services or facilities as described in this

application will be allowed without written approval of the proper governing body and the Alabama

Alcoholic Beverage Control Board.

fy Ihereby swear and affirm that Ihave read the application and all statements therein and facts setforth are true
and correct, and that the applicant is the only person interested in the business for which the license

is required.

Applicant Name (print): ^ £/j fl-rt f<f£$rHUfc«0 T
Signature of Applicant:

Notary Name (print): (_,

Notary Signature: r'%y^y-y^Luj

Application Taken: Lc/3-D/i(^? App. Inv. Completed:
Submitted to Local Government:

Received in District Office: Reviewed by Supervisor:

Commission expires: /0"3i~' / ^

Forwarded to District Office:

Received from Local Government:

Forwarded to Central Office:

<Cj

Exhibit - Resolution No. 4873



STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD
Confirmation Number: 20160630141408961

NOTICE OF TRANSFER OF ABC LICENSED BUSINESS

NOTE: A Copy of Operating Agreement Must be Attached To Application

CURRENT LICENSEE:

VESTAVIA MART LLC

Address: 2544 ROCKY RIDGE DR

VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35243
Telephone: 205-908-5575

NEW APPLICANT:

ROSHAN 1 LLC

Address: 2544 ROCKY RIDGE DR
VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35243

Telephone: 205-979-3030

Current License No: 010648437
010648437

LICENSED PREMISES ADDRESS: 2544 ROCKY RIDGE DR VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35243

THE AFORENAMED HEREBY SERVE NOTICE TO THE ABC BOARD OF THE ATTACHED

CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT GOVERNING THE CONTINUATION OF SALES OF ALCOHOLIC
BEVERAGES ON THE LICENSED PREMISES.

The Parties to this agreement hereby acknowledge and affirm that the New (Applicant) Licensee will,
at all times, act as the AGENT for the Current (Named) Licensee, and the Current Licensee shall act as
PRINCIPAL for the purposes of the attached Agreement. The Principal shall be bound by all acts and/or
omissions of the Agent in the operation of the licensed premises.

The Current Licensee is now and shall remain liable for any violations of ABC Rules and Regulations
or other Alabama Law for the duration of the attached Agreement; and, further, that the Current Licensee has
the right and authority, under Alabama Law, to surrender the ABC License to the ABC Board at any time.

The parties acknowledge that the operation of the licensed premises shall remain subject to
inspection by ABC Enforcement, and must comply with all State and Local regulations and Laws, and that
the local ABC Enforcement District Office must be immediately notified of any change in the attached
Agreement.

THE CURRENT LICENSE WILL NOT BE RENEWED.

WITNESS our hands and seals on this the ^Oday of , )U)[~N<gL_ , 20 j (

CURRENT LICENSEE (NAMED ON LICENSE) NEW LICENSEE (APPLICANT)

'e^jSjm^jjM^Mk \
Print Name:

Title:

WITNESS: (By ABC Enforcement)
Revised 9/08

k£2J*rg
Print Name:

Title: \»n^/5/^-

j£gyjg42as&t

Exhibit - Resolution No. 4873



Resolution Number 4874 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4874 
 
 A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN 

PERSONAL PROPERTY IS NOT NEEDED FOR 
PUBLIC OR MUNICIPAL PURPOSES AND 
DIRECTING THE DONATION OF SAID SURPLUS 
PROPERTY 

 
WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, is the owner of personal 

property detailed in the attached “Exhibit A”; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that it would be in the best public interest to 

sell said property. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to donate the above-referenced surplus 

personal property to another Police Department; and 

2. This Resolution Number 4874 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption and approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 12th day of 

September, 2016. 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



                                                                                                                                                8/25/16 

 

 

To: Rebecca Leavings 

From: Sgt. Gaston, Officer Wilson 

Re: Surplus City Property 

 

 

      Please request that the City Council deem the following property surplus at the next meeting: 

 

• Kustom Pro 1000 radar unit, serial # 11137 and city asset sticker # 10484 
• Kustom Pro 1000 radar unit, serial # 10370 and city asset sticker # 10493 

 

Please contact me with any questions or concerns. 

 

 

                                                                 Thanks,   Sgt. Gaston       ext.#1137 

                   Officer Wilson   ext.#1110 

 

                            

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4874



Resolution Number 4875 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4875 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR MOWING OF RIGHTS-OF-
WAY IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS  

 
 WHEREAS, on August 15, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read 

aloud bids submitted for mowing rights-of-way throughout the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Services Director has reviewed the bids, detailed them in an 

Interoffice Memorandum to the City Manager dated August 26, 2016 and recommended 

acceptance of the bid submitted by NatureScape.  A copy of said Interoffice Memorandum is 

marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4875 as if written 

fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the Public Services Director and accept said bid as detailed in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by NatureScape as detailed in attached Exhibit A and recommended 

by the Public Services Director, is hereby accepted; and 

2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver any and all 

documents necessary to secure said agreement and/or for said purchase upon written 

approval of the City Attorney, a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit B” attached to and 

incorporated into this Resolution Number 4875 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4875 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 

2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4875 
Page 2 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4875



Resolution Number 4876 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4876 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR LANDSCAPE 
MAINTENANCE OF THE VESTAVIA HILLS CITY HALL, THE 
VESTAVIA HILLS LIBRARY IN THE FOREST AND PASSIVE PARKS 
IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS  

 
 WHEREAS, on July 13, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read 

aloud bids submitted for landscape maintenance of the Vestavia Hills City Hall, the Vestavia 

Hills Library in the Forest and passive parks throughout the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Services Director has reviewed the bids, detailed them in an 

Interoffice Memorandum to the City Manager dated August 26, 2016 and recommended 

acceptance of the bid submitted by NatureScape.  A copy of said Interoffice Memorandum is 

marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4876 as if written 

fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the Public Services Director and accept said bid as detailed in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by NatureScape as detailed in attached Exhibit A and recommended 

by the Public Services Director, is hereby accepted; and 

2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver any and all 

documents necessary to secure said agreement and/or for said purchase upon written 

approval of the City Attorney, a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit B” attached to and 

incorporated into this Resolution Number 4876 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4876 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 

2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  



Resolution Number 4876 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4876



Resolution Number 4877 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4877 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR PEST CONTROL SERVICES 
FOR FACILITIES OWNED BY THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS  

 
 WHEREAS, on June 30, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read 

aloud bids submitted for pest control services for facilities owned by the City of Vestavia Hills; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Public Services Director has reviewed the bids, detailed them in an 

Interoffice Memorandum to the City Manager dated August 26, 2016 and recommended 

acceptance of the bid submitted by Knox Pest Control.  A copy of said Interoffice Memorandum 

is marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4877 as if 

written fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the Public Services Director and accept said bid as detailed in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by Knox Pest Control as detailed in attached Exhibit A and 

recommended by the Public Services Director, is hereby accepted; and 

2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver any and all 

documents necessary to secure said agreement and/or for said purchase upon written 

approval of the City Attorney, a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit B” attached to and 

incorporated into this Resolution Number 4877 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4877 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 

2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
 
 



Resolution Number 4877 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4877



Resolution Number 4878 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4878 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR STREET RESURFACING 
AND REPAIR IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS  

 
 WHEREAS, on August 11, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read 

aloud bids submitted for street repair and resurfacing in the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

WHEREAS, the City Engineer has reviewed the bids, detailed them in an Interoffice 

Memorandum to the City Manager dated September 6, 2016 and recommended acceptance of the 

bid submitted by Dunn Construction Company.  A copy of said Interoffice Memorandum is 

marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4878 as if written 

fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the City Engineer and accept said bid as detailed in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by Dunn Construction Company as detailed in attached Exhibit A and 

recommended by the City Engineer, is hereby accepted; and 

2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver any and all 

documents necessary to secure said agreement and/or for said purchase upon written 

approval of the City Attorney, a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit B” attached to and 

incorporated into this Resolution Number 4878 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4878 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 

2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4878 
Page 2 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 4878



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2680 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE AGREEMENT FOR THE 
RENEWAL AND EXTENSION OF THE CONTRACT FOR GARBAGE 
AND TRASH COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL SERVICES FOR A 
PERIOD OF ONE (1) YEAR AT A MONTHLY RECURRING FEE OF 
NINETEEN AND 62/100 DOLLARS ($19.62) PER RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER TO 
EXECUTE AND DELIVER SAID AGREEMENT FOR AND ON BEHALF 
OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 WITNESSETH THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2680 APPROVED AND 

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 12th day of 

September, 2016. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”) and BFI Waste Services, LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company, doing business as Republic Services of Birmingham 

(“Contractor”) have heretofore entered into a Contract for Garbage and Trash Collection and 

Disposal Services (“Contract”), which contract period is scheduled to end on September 30, 

2016; and 

 WHEREAS, the City and Contractor wish to renew and extend the term of the Contract 

for a period of one (1) year beginning October 1, 2016 and ending September 30, 2017 at a 

monthly recurring fee in the amount of Nineteen and 62/100 Dollars ($19.62) per residential 

unit; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Attorney for the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama has written a 

legal opinion opining that the execution and delivery of said Agreement for Renewal and 

Extension of Contract is legally permissible under the emergency exemption of the Alabama 

Competitive Bid Law set forth at Title 41-16-53, Code of Alabama, 1975; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of that legal opinion, dated September 6, 2016, is attached hereto, 

marked as Exhibit 1 and is incorporated into this ordinance by reference as though set out fully 

herein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement for Renewal and Extension of the Contract is attached 

hereto, marked as Exhibit 2 and is incorporated into this ordinance by reference as though set out 

fully herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City 

of Vestavia Hills, Alabama as follows: 

 



 1. The legal opinion of the City Attorney marked as Exhibit 1 and attached hereto is 

incorporated into this ordinance by reference as though set out fully herein. 

  2. The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama finds, determines and 

declares that the situation described in Exhibit 1 is an emergency within the meaning of the 

emergency exemption to the Alabama Competitive Bid Law set forth at Title 43-16-53, Code of 

Alabama, 1975.  The City has the legal obligation to furnish garbage and trash collection and 

disposal services to the citizens.  Furthermore, a failure to provide those services would not 

promote the health, safety and general welfare of the City and its residents. 

  3. The Agreement for Renewal and Extension of Contract marked as Exhibit 2 and 

attached hereto is incorporated into this ordinance by reference as though set out fully herein. 

 4. Upon approval, adoption and enactment of this Ordinance Number 2680, the 

Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver any and all 

documents and to take whatever action is necessary to renew and extend the Contract for a 

period of one (1) year beginning October 1, 2016 and ending September 30, 2017 at a monthly 

price of Nineteen and 62/100 Dollars ($19.62) per residential unit, per month, including 

specifically but not limited to, the execution and delivery of Exhibit 2. 

 5. This ordinance shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, enactment and 

publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 6. If any part, section or subdivision of this Ordinance shall be held unconstitutional 

or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 

remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such 

holding. 

ORDAINED, APPROVED, ADOPTED, DONE and ORDERED on this the 12th day 

of September, 2016. 

     CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
     
     By  
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CITY CLERK 
 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 
JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 
 

I, Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, do hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance duly and legally adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 12th day of September, 2016 
while in regular session, and the same appears of record in the minute book of said date of said 
City. 
 
 Witness my hand and seal of office this _____ day of September, 2016. 
 
             
     _______________________________________ 
       Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
 



Exhibit 1 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 1 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 1 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 1 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 1 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 2 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 2 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 2 - Ordinance No. 2680



Exhibit 2 - Ordinance No. 2680



1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2681 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONFIRMING AND RATIFYING THE LEVY OF THE 
3.15 MILL AD VALOREM TAX IN THE CITY FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL 
PURPOSES PURSUANT TO AMENDMENT NO. 352 TO THE 
CONSTITUTION OF ALABAMA OF 1901 AND A SPECIAL ELECTION 
HELD IN THE CITY ON JANUARY 13, 1976 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL (THE "COUNCIL") OF 
THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS (THE "CITY") AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Findings.  The Council hereby finds and declares that the City 
presently levies, pursuant to Amendment No. 352 to the Constitution of Alabama of 1901, a 
special election held in the City on January 13, 1976, and proceedings taken under the said 
constitution, a tax (the "Special Ad Valorem Tax") annually on all taxable property situated in 
the City at a rate of 3.15 mills per annum (said tax being a portion of the overall levy of 12.7 
mills per annum under the said amendment, election and proceedings), the net proceeds of which 
tax are for public school purposes for use by and for the Vestavia Hills City Board of Education 
(the "Board"); and that the Board proposes (a) to issue its Special Tax School Warrants, Series 
2016, in the approximate aggregate principal amount of $70,080,000 (the "Warrants"), for the 
purpose of providing various public school capital improvements to the facilities of the Board 
and for refunding, prepaying and retiring certain obligations of the Board heretofore issued for 
public school capital improvements, and (b) to pledge, among other tax proceeds allocated to the 
Board, for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants, the net proceeds derived 
by the Board from collections of the Special Ad Valorem Tax. 
 
 Section 2.  Pledge.  The City, having heretofore agreed in Resolution Number 
1045 adopted on January 20, 1986, to transfer the proceeds of the Special Ad Valorem Tax to the 
Board, hereby further pledges, to the Board and to the holders and beneficial owners of the 
Warrants, the proceeds, after payment of the costs of assessment and collection, of the Special 
Ad Valorem Tax, and further agrees that it shall continue to levy and provide for the collection 
of the Special Ad Valorem Tax and to pay the proceeds thereof over to the Board until the final 
retirement of the Warrants, now expected to occur on or before February 1, 2046. 
 
  ADOPTED this 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 
       
     Mayor and Presiding Officer of the  
     City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Attest: 
 
 
 
    
 City Clerk of the 
 City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 



2 

   
  APPROVED this 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
 
 

       
     Mayor of the  
     City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 
 
 

1/4008433.1 



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2681



Resolution Number 4879 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4879 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
PURCHASE MAKERSPACE/CRAFTING ITEMS TO FURNISH A 
MAKERSPACE AREA FOR THE VESTAVIA HILLS LIBRARY IN THE 
FOREST 

 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest received a letter dated August 1, 

2016 from the Alabama Public Library Service awarding a “Director’s Initiative” grant totaling 

$20,000; and 

 WHEREAS, the awarded grant requires a contract period that expires on September 30, 

2016 in which all funds must be obligated by the said contract period date; and 

 WHEREAS, Library Director Taniesha Tucker in an Interoffice Memorandum to the 

City Manager dated August 19, 2016, has identified “makerspace/crafting” items to fulfill a 

vacant area of the Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest to construct a desired makerspace area and 

requested that the items be purchased with funding from the Library’s Fund 13 Donations 

account and be reimbursed by the above-described grant in an amount not to exceed $20,001.  A 

copy of said Interoffice Memorandum and accompanying documentation is marked as Exhibit A, 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4879 as though written fully therein; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree it is in the best interest of the public to 

accept the recommendation of the Library Director and take advantage of the above-described 

grant in order to supply the makerspace area for the Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest. 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to expend an amount not to exceed $20,001 

from the Library Fund 13 Donations and allow the funding to be reimbursed from the 

above-described Director’s Initiative grants; and 

2. Said purchases shall be made and the funds obligated prior to the required deadline of 

September 30, 2016; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4879 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

 



Resolution Number 4879 
Page 2 

 
ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4879



Ordinance Number 2678 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2678 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE 
APPROVAL FOR THE INTENDED PURPOSE OF RAISING AND 
HOUSING HENS 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010 the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama approved and adopted Ordinance Number 2331 entitled the Vestavia Hills 

Zoning Code and establishing a conditional use approval for certain uses not permissible 

by right in zoning classifications; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 25, 2014, Malcolm McLeod submitted an application for 

conditional use approval to raise a maximum of two (2) hens on his property located at 

724 Paden Drive, Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, the property located at 724 Paden Drive is presently zoned Vestavia 

Hills R-2 (residential district); and 

 WHEREAS, Table 5 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code sets forth the permissible 

uses within a R-2 classification; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Planning and Zoning Commission at its regular 

meeting of August 11, 2016 voted to recommend approval of the request as presented, 

with certain stipulations by a vote of six (6) in favor and zero (0) against; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of said application dated July 7, 2016 is attached and hereby 

incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2678. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby approved for Malcolm McLeod, for use 

of the property located at 724 Paden Drive to raise and house chickens with 

the following conditions: 

(1) Maximum of two (2) hens may be allowed at any time;  

(2) Coop must be permanently placed, fenced and shall not be moved to 

other portions of the property;  

(3) No roosters shall occupy the premises at any time;  

(4) Hens and/or eggs shall not be used for a commercial purpose; 



Ordinance Number 2678 
Page 2 

 
(5) This conditional use approval is location and owner specific and if  

Mr. McLeod shall ever vacate the premises said conditional use shall 

be considered null and void; 

(6) If Mr. McLeod vacates the conditional use by not raising any hens for 

a period of more than one (1) year, said conditional use is considered 

null and void; and 

(7) If Mr. McLeod experiences any predators lured by said hens, he shall 

notify the Vestavia Hills Police Department immediately. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 26th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as Acting City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2678 is a true 
and correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City 
of Vestavia Hills on the 26th day of September, 2016 as same appears in the official 
records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2016. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 



Given under 
this 	da 

nd seal 
, 20 

   

N/A 

    

    

Owner Signa /Date 	 Representing Agent (if any)/date 

otary Public 

My commission expires 
day of 	 , 20 

P0816-33//39-2-1-2-6 
724 Paden Drive 
Keeping 2 chickens 
Malcolm McLeod 

R2 

P&Z Application 

Page 5 

III. ACTION REQUESTED 

Request that the above described property be approved conditional use approval pursuant 
to Section 	 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code. 

Current Zoning of Property: Residential 

 

  

Requested Conditional use For the intended purpose of: Having (2) chickens 

  

(Example: From "VH R-1" to "VH 0-1" for office building) 
**i f additional information is needed, please attached full description of request** 

IV. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 	(address, legal, etc.) 

724 Paden Drive 

Vestavia Hills, AL 35226 

Property size: 	 feet X 

INFORMATION 	ATTACHED: 

X 	Attached Checklist complete with all required information. 

X  	Application fees submitted. 

VI. 	I do hereby declare the above statements are true and that I, the owner, and/or my duly 
appoint 	sentative will be at the scheduled hearing. 

feet. Acres: 	2 acres 

V.  

My Commission Expires 
March 8th, 2018 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



r- 
He ...new 

o 	0 	 o 	o 

Ze 	 tr. 
7-3e . 	cr.L.4 

wovegal  .0: 

R  _ 

D 
o 

 . 	PoRrk-e ..., cme_ 
• - ,. 	 IP 

A 	Fr oc.e _ .:.. Dimly- 	5"' 

.r 03 4  
E n 

ScRN 

t. Ow mM 

€7. 
g 

CVRIJE ]? 

R=.505.0 • 1-r°44'v3" 
ory.,- 1st.. 

• 75.590. 
'14- 1 sc. 

155./3 t-1 

/-1 
P 

PPA5. 	 .NkkvE- 
P 

p. ZC(Ay 

16,...4 
va tete 

ctimP 
0 

0. 04 

I 1400A11 

-k 

KoR-1-11  
S cark. 	50' 

1)== bee 
R.= 
H7` Ofigar'SV KG" 
C 

-Cid= 
Reg a Itc\ Wcoa_cl r SIVP. 

• PLAr"..-k-ppoxo Rs-Ps 

‹Ftimp 	 F.. 
- <P,orcr> 
= 1p .14 0.40R.D 

P 	00111,  Pewee wteef 

2" 1-kr+ 400 T 

I ev 

4zo. 	> 	NW c.R. 

• Wa Y.  
V3S - W 

• 4,- 
344411,W 

vc,i. :3 75 y. 

STATE OF ALABAMA 	 VESTAVIA COMMUNITY 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 	 BIRMINGHAM DIVISION 

Legal Description: A tract of land in the SW4 of the NE' of Section 2, Township 
19 South, Range 3 West, more particularly described as follows: Begin at the 
NW corner of the SWk of the NEB of Section 2, Township 19 South, Range 3 West; 
thence South along the West line of the SW' of the NEk a distance of 420.65 
feet to the point of beginning, thence 88 degrees 34' to the left in an 
easterly direction along the South line of the property of Fred S. and Elizabeth 
Toomer as recorded in Vol. 5757, Page 103 and the South line of lot 6, according 
to the survey of Dogwood Estates recorded in Map Book 50, Page 77, in the Office 
of the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, a distance of 323.72 feet to 
a point on the Westerly line of Paden Drive; thence 106 degrees 19'29" to the 
right (angle measured from the tangent of a curve) in a southerly direction 
along said westerly line of Paden Drive in a curve to left having a radius of 
505.0 ft. and a central angle of 17 degrees 45'29" a distance of 156.52 feet to 
the P.T. (point of tangent of said curve), thence in the tangent to said curve 
and parallel to the West line of the SW; of the NEk a distance of 83.48 ft. to 
a point, thence 91 degrees 06' (a measured angle of 04') to the right in a 
westerly direction a distance of 299.30 ft. (a measured distance of 299.61 ft.) 
to a point on the westerly line of the SW' of the NEk, thence 88 degrees 54' 
(a measured angle of 56') to the right in a northerly direction along said 
westerly line of the Swk of the NE' a distance of 240.0 ft. to the point of 
beginning. 

Address: 
	

724 Paden Drive 
Vestavia Hills, Al 

35226 

All structures are within the boundary of the same with no encroachment of 
adjacent properties, electric or telephone wires, poles, or gyes, other than 
those serving the premises, except as shown above. 
I have consulted the available USGS Maps Of Flood Prone Areas and found the 

above described tract is not located in a Flood Prone Area. 
"I hereby state that all parts of this survey and drawing 

have been completed in accordance with the current requirements 
of the Standards of Practice for Surveying in the State of 
Alabama to the best of by knowledge, information, and belief." 

	

field 	June 5, 2015 

	

drawing 	June 7, 2015 gli„ k»u-sii-4 
Olden G Webb III LS 

reg #11847 
POB 62, Hayden, Al 

35079-0062 
1-205-780-5688 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



Malcolm McLeod 

P0816-33//39-2-1-2-6 
724 Paden Drive 
Keeping 2 chickens 
Malcolm McLeod 

  

 

R2 

 

• Approximately two (2) acre lot — 

• Proposed Chickens to be approximately 20' feet from Shed to Property Line - 

• Home completely wooded & obstructed from sight on three propety boundaries - 

• Chickens out of siight from street - 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



Respectfully submitted this the   J   day of July, 201 

1PP- 

MAL  ta  S. MCLEOD 

/IPAPat 
NO''''  -y.  PUBLI ir 

My Commission Expires: 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 

P0816-33//39-2-1-2-6 
724 Paden Drive 
Keeping 2 chickens 
Malcolm McLeod R2 

AFFIDAVIT OF MALCOLM S. MCLEOD 

I , Malcolm S. McLeod, being first duly sworn, do depose and state that I am over 
the age of nineteen (19) years, of sound mind, and I have personal knowledge of the facts 
which are herein set forth: 

1. My name is Malcolm S. McLeod; 

2. My present address is 724 Paden Drive, Vestavia Hills, AL 35226; 

3. I have resided at said address since 1995; 

4. There is no restriction, covenant, directive, et al., to my knowledge, in existence, 
concerning limitation on my home and the possession, dominion, control, et al, of 
chickens, whatsoever. 

1,   5&...9(t, L.  kAnc..,4`1a  Notary Public in and for said County in said state, hereby 
certify that Malcolm S. McL od, whose name is signed to the foregoing Affidavit, and 
who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the 
contents of the above and foregoing Affidavit, he executed the same voluntarily on the 
date the same bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal of off this the   C   day of July, 2016. 

My Commission Expires 

March 8th, 2018 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



pooqopv L
IIT

O
O

R
N

 
SL

IO
rT

L
IO

 Z
 2

1.1IdO
O

N
 

azifia uapud bZL 
9-Z

-I-Z
-6£#££-9I8O

d 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



P0816-33//39-2-1-2-6 
724 Paden Drive 
Keeping 2 chickens 
Malcolm McLeod 
	

R2 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2678



Ordinance Number 2679 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2679 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS B-
3 AND VESTAVIA HILLS O-1 TO VESTAVIA HILLS B-1.2 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills B-3 (business 

district) and Vestavia Hills O-1 (office district) to Vestavia Hills B-2 (business district):  

3017 and 3029 Cahaba Heights Road 
Cahaba Heights Corner LLC and Bob Armstrong, Owner(s) 

 
More particularly described as follows: 
 

SURVEY DESCRIPTION PARCEL I 
Commence at the Northwest corner of the Southeast Quarter of the 
Northwest Quarter of Section 22, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, 
Jefferson County, Alabama; run East for 468 feet to a point; thence turn 
right 90°05'43" and run 23.66 feet to a cross cut found on top of a 
retaining wall also known as the Point of Beginning of the property herein 
described; thence continue along the last described course for 202.33 feet 
to a 1" open top pipe found along the northeasterly margin of Shades 
Creek; thence turn left 124°29'28" and run Northeasterly along a tie line 
(Iron to Iron) to the aforementioned creek a tie distance of 252.20 feet to a 
1/2" rebar found; thence leaving the northeasterly margin of said creek 
turn left 55°38'19" and run 58.15 
feet to a Weygand capped rebar found; thence turn left 89°29'35" and run 
207.75 feet along the North boundary established by Surveying Solutions 
to the Point of Beginning. 
 
 
SURVEY DESCRIPTION PARCEL II 
Port of the SE 1/4 ( of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 22, Township 18 
South, Range 2 West, Jefferson County, Alabama, being more particularly 
described as follows: Commence at the Northwest corner of said Southeast 
1/4 of Northwest 1/4 of said Section 22 and run in an Easterly direction 
along the North line of said 1/4-1/4 section for a distance of 676.78 feet; 
thence turn an angle to the right of 89 degrees 55 minutes 46 seconds and 
run in a Southerly direction for a distance of 25.37 feet to an existing iron 



Ordinance Number 2679 
Page 2 

 
rebar set by Weygand and being the point of beginning; thence continue in 
a Southerly direction along the last mentioned course for a distance of 
80.0 feet; thence turn an angle to the right of 59 degrees 59 minutes 02 
seconds and run in a Southwesterly direction for a distance of 240.64 feet 
to an existing #5 iron rebar; thence turn an angle to the left of 148 degrees 
32 minutes and run in an Easterly direction for a distance of 352.55 feet to 
an existing iron rebar set by J.A.M. and being on the West right of way 
line of Dolly Ridge Road; thence turn an angle to the left of 98 degrees 24 
minutes 06 seconds and run in a Northerly direction along the West right 
of way line of Dolly Ridge Road for a distance of 104.56 feet to an 
existing iron rebar set by Weygand and to the point of beginning of a 
curve; said curve being concave in a Southwesterly direction and having a 
central angle of 51 degrees 24 minutes 16 seconds and a radius of 107.95 
feet; thence turn an angle to the left and run in a Northerly and 
Northwesterly direction along the arc of said curve for a distance of 96.85 
feet to a point of compound curve; said latest curve being concave in a 
Southwesterly direction and having a central angle of 18 degrees 03 
minutes 27 seconds and a radius of 271.42 feet; thence continue in a 
Northwesterly direction and along the Southerly right of way line of Pump 
House Road for a distance of 85.54 feet, more or less, to the point of 
beginning; Containing 0.86 acres, more or less. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 26th day of September, 2016. 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2679 
Page 3 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2679 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 26th day of August, 2016 as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 
Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 

 
 
 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     AUGUST 11, 2016

� CASE: P-0816-35

� REQUESTED ACTION: from Vestavia Hills O-1 and Vestavia Hills B-3 to 
Vestavia Hills B-1.2 For The Purpose Of Commercial Development

� ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3017 Cahaba Heights Rd.

� APPLICANT/OWNER: Cahaba Heights Corner, LLC & Bob Armstrong

� REPRESNTING AGENT: Christopher Architects

� GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property is on the corner of Cahaba Heights Rd. and 
Dolly Ridge Rd. and is more commonly known as the Armstrong garage and the 
vacant property to the west. Applicant is seeking rezoning to build a restaurant 
building to potentially hold two establishments. The building would be approx. 6,000
sq. ft. The building would be as close as 5.5’ at the intersection of Cahaba Heights 
Rd. and Dolly Ridge Rd. 76 parking spaces would be spread out among 2 separate
lots. The creek running through the middle of the site will remain and be used as a 
feature for the restaurant. A proposed site plan, landscaping plan, and rendering is 
enclosed. Lots would be combined after rezoning.

� CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
Cahaba Heights Community Plan for retail/mixed use.

� STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  Approval needed on creek and drainage.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 



2

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Wolfe made a motion to recommend rezoning approval of 3017 Cahaba 
Heights Rd. from Vestavia Hills O-1 and Vestavia Hills B-3 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2 with the 
condition:

A. The two lots be resurveyed into one lot.

Second was by Mr. Sharp. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Burrell – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mr. Sharp – yes
Mr. Wolfe – yes Mr. House – yes 
Mr. Brooks – yes Mr. Larson – yes 
Motion carried












	2016_0912CC_A
	2016_0822CC_M
	2016_0829CC_work session
	2016_0830CC_M
	Resolution 4866
	Resolution 4869
	Resolution 4870
	Resolution 4871
	Ordinance 2677
	CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION - Ashley Curry
	CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION - Rusty Weaver
	CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION - Kimberly Cook
	CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION - Paul Head
	CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION - George Pierce
	Resolution 4873
	Resolution 4874
	Resolution 4875
	Resolution 4876
	Resolution 4877
	Resolution 4878
	Ordinance 2680
	Ordinance 2681
	Resolution 4879
	Ordinance 2678
	Ordinance 2679



